
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Tuesday 13 March 2018 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Ryedale House, Malton, North Yorkshire YO17 7HH 

Agenda 

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of interest 
Members to indicate whether they will be declaring any interests under the 
Code of Conduct. 

Members making a declaration of interest at a meeting of a Committee or 
Council are required to disclose the existence and nature of that interest. This 
requirement is not discharged by merely declaring a personal interest without 
further explanation.

3 Minutes (Pages 3 - 7)

4 Urgent Business 
To receive notice of any urgent business which the Chairman considers 
should be dealt with at the meeting as a matter of urgency by virtue of Section 
100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

5 Schedule of items to be determined by the Committee (Pages 8 - 9)
 

6 17/01536/MFUL - Land South of Firthland Road Pickering (Pages 10 - 12)

7 17/01458/MFUL - Leat House 71 Welham Road Norton (Pages 13 - 49)

8 17/01500/MOUT - Land off Ruffa Lane Pickering (Pages 50 - 97)

9 17/01509/MREM - Land at Rainbow Lane Malton (Pages 98 - 142)

Ryedale House
Malton
North Yorkshire
YO17 7HH

Tel.   01653 600666

E-mail:
ellis.mortimer@ryedale.gov.uk; 
karen.hood@ryedale.gov.uk

PLANNING 
COMMITTEE

Please Contact: Ellis 
Mortimer/Karen Hood
Extension:   271     

Date: 5th March 2018

Public Document Pack



10 17/01327/FUL - Bay Horse Inn Main Street Terrington (Pages 143 - 163)

11 17/01450/FUL - North Yorkshire Highways Depot Manor Vale Lane 
Kirkbymoorside (Pages 164 - 209)

12 17/01494/HOUSE - 24 Castlegate Kirkbymoorside (Pages 210 - 221)

13 17/01513/FUL - Land off The Chase Norton (Pages 222 - 229)

14 17/01531/FUL - Outbuilding at Water Meadows Hall Drive Sand Hutton 
(Pages 230 - 248)

15 Any other business 

16 List of applications determined under delegated powers (Pages 249 - 
255)

17 Appeals (Pages 256 - 261)



Planning Committee 1 Tuesday 13 February 2018

Planning Committee

Held at Council Chamber - Ryedale House, Malton, North Yorkshire YO17 7HH
Tuesday 13 February 2018

Present

Councillors  Joy Andrews, Paul Andrews, Farnell (Chairman), Goodrick, Hope, Maud, 
Sanderson (Substitute), Elizabeth Shields and Windress

Substitutes: Councillor J E Sanderson

In Attendance

Niamh Bonner, Gary Housden, Ellis Mortimer and Lizzie Phippard

Minutes

132 Apologies for absence

Apologies were received from Councillor Cleary

133 Declarations of interest

Councillor Item
Farnell 6
J Andrews 6, 11
Maud 6
Shields 10
P Andrews 6, 9
Goodrick 6
Sanderson 6

134 Minutes

Decision

That the minutes of the Planning Committee held on 16 January 2018 be 
approved and signed as a correct record.

[For 8 Against 0 Abstain 1]

135 Urgent Business

There was no urgent business.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee 2 Tuesday 13 February 2018

136 Schedule of items to be determined by the Committee

The Head of Planning submitted a list (previously circulated) of the applications 
for planning permission with recommendations thereon.

137 17/01281/MFUL - Land North East of Rock Cottage Pickering

17/01281/MFUL - Erection of carriage stable with associated storage, staff 
facilities and service facilities for up to 40no. carriages from the running fleet, 
erection of workshop for the restoration of historic carriages with associated 
staff facilities including accommodation, formation of an additional 12no. parking 
spaces and formation of new vehicular access bridge to replace existing access 
over Pickering Beck together with additional landscaping.

Decision

PERMISSION GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended and final 
comments from the Archaeology section.

[For 7 Against 1 Abstain 1]

In accordance with the Member’s Code of Conduct, Councillors Farnell, J 
Andrews, Maud, P Andrews, Goodrick and Sanderson declared a personal non-
prejudicial but not pecuniary interest.

138 17/00980/73 - Land to Rear of the Forge Terrington

17/00980/73 - Variation of Condition 12 (Local Needs Occupancy) of approval 
16/01227/OUT dated 15.03.2017 to add an additional bullet point to state: The 
obligations contained in this condition shall not be binding or enforceable 
against any mortgagee or any receiver appointed by such a mortgagee or any 
person deriving title through such as mortgagee or receiver provided always 
that a successor in title of such a person shall be bound by the obligations 
contained in this condition.

Decision 

PERMISSION GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended.

[For 9 Against 0 Abstain 0]

139 17/01369/MFUL - Land at Stamford Bridge Road Sand Hutton

Page 4



Planning Committee 3 Tuesday 13 February 2018

17/01369/MFUL - Change of use of land to form woodland fairy trail with 
erection of single storey building for use as reception, cafe, toilets, kitchen, 
storage and fairy museum/story telling area, formation of car parking, 
improvements to tracks and paths, formation of pedestrian footpaths with focal 
point structures and installation of foul drainage reed bed system 

Decision

PERMISISON GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended.

[For 9 Against 0 Abstain 0]

140 17/01077/ADV - Grass Verge off Castle Howard Road Malton

17/01077/ADV - Erection of pole-mounted aluminium town welcome sign 
(retrospective).

Decision

PERMISSION GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended

[For 6 Against 1 Abstain 1]

In accordance with the Member’s Code of Conduct, Councillor P Andrews 
declared a prejudicial interest and left the Meeting for the duration of the item.

141 17/01099/FUL - Agricultural Contractors Welham Road Norton

17/01099/FUL - Refurbishment and recladding of existing agricultural 
contractors buildings

Decision

PERMISSION GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended.

[For 8 Against 0 Abstain 1]

In accordance with the Member’s Code of Conduct, Councillor Mrs Shields 
declared a personal non-pecuniary but not prejudicial interest.

142 17/01404/HOUSE - 6 Willowgate Pickering

Page 5



Planning Committee 4 Tuesday 13 February 2018

17/01404/HOUSE - Erection of detached garage (revised details to refusal 
17/00704/HOUSE dated 01.08.2017) 

Decision

DEFERRED – For further design negotiation.

[For 9 Against 0 Abstain 0]

In accordance with the Member’s Code of Conduct, Councillor J Andrews 
declared a personal non-pecuniary but not prejudicial interest.

143 17/01426/FUL - Ryedale Carr Westgate Carr Road Pickering

17/01426/FUL - Erection of a general purpose agricultural building to include 
the housing of livestock (retrospective application).

Decision 

PERMISSION GRANTED – Subject to conditions as recommended.

[For 8 Against 0 Abstain 1]

144 Any other Business

There was no other business.

145 List of applications determined under delegated powers

The Head of Planning submitted for information a list (previously circulated) 
which gave details of the applications determined by the Head of Planning in 
accordance with the scheme of delegated decisions.

146 Appeals

Members were advised of the following appeal decisions:

APP/Y2736/W/17/3185761 – Land Adj to Dhekelia, Moor Lane, Broughton

Meeting closed 20:40

Page 6



Planning Committee 5 Tuesday 13 February 2018

Page 7



13/03/18

APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY RYEDALE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 

17/01536/MFUL

Erection of 24no. four bedroom dwellings, 75no. three bedroom dwellings, 

50no. two bedroom dwellings and 14no. one bedroom dwellings with 

associated access, garaging, parking, infrastructure, landscaping and public 

open space

6

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Land South Of Firthland Road Pickering North Yorkshire  

17/01458/MFUL

Change of use, alteration and extension to office building (Use Class B1) to 

form 6no. one-bedroom and 4no. two-bedroom residential apartments (Use 

Class C3) following demolition of existing conservatory (revised details to 

approval 16/01848/FUL dated 24.04.2017)

7

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Leat House  71 Welham Road Norton Malton YO17 9DS

17/01500/MOUT

Residential development of up to 11no. dwellings with associated access 

(site area 0.75ha)

8

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Land Off Ruffa Lane Pickering North Yorkshire 

17/01509/MREM

Erection of 18no. three bedroom dwellings, 34no. two bedroom dwellings 

and 4no. one bedroom dwellings with associated infrastructure and 

landscaping (outline approval 14/00429/MOUTE dated 24.03.2015 refers)

9

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Land At Rainbow Lane Malton North Yorkshire 

17/01327/FUL

External alterations to include erection of screen wall to east elevation 

together with erection of detached 1 bedroom managers dwelling following 

demolition of store building.

10

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Bay Horse Inn Main Street Terrington Malton North Yorkshire YO60 6PP

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



13/03/18

APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY RYEDALE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 

17/01450/FUL

Erection of 6no. three bedroom terraced dwellings along with parking areas 

and shared amenity space

11

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: North Yorkshire Highways Depot  Manor Vale Lane Kirkbymoorside 

YO62 6EG

17/01494/HOUSE

Erection of a part two storey/part single storey rear extension and terracing 

of rear garden

12

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: 24 Castlegate Kirkbymoorside North Yorkshire YO62 6BJ

17/01513/FUL

Erection of a two bedroom bungalow together with formation of vehicular 

access for 3 The Chase.

13

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Land Off The Chase Norton Malton North Yorkshire  

17/01531/FUL

Change of use, alteration and extension of existing detached outbuilding to 

form a two bedroom residential dwelling together with alterations to the 

driveway layout.

14

Application No:

Proposal:

Application Site: Outbuilding At Water Meadows Hall Drive Sand Hutton Malton  

Page 9



_________________________________________________________________________________________

PLANNING COMMITTEE

13 March 2018

RYEDALE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE

SCHEDULE OF ITEMS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE COMMITTEE

PLANS WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION 30 MINUTES BEFORE THE MEETING

Item Number: 6
Application No: 17/01536/MFUL
Parish: Pickering Town Council
Appn. Type: Full Application  Major
Applicant: Persimmon Homes (Yorkshire)(Mr Craig Woolmer)
Proposal: Erection of 24no. four bedroom dwellings, 75no. three bedroom dwellings, 

50no. two bedroom dwellings and 14no. one bedroom dwellings with 
associated access, garaging, parking, infrastructure, landscaping and public 
open space

Location: Land South Of Firthland Road Pickering North Yorkshire 

Registration Date:  15 January 2018
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  16 April 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  1 March 2018
Case Officer:  Rachael Balmer Ext: 357

CONSULTATIONS:

Public Rights Of Way Await response 
Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning Comments 
North Yorkshire Education Authority Comments 
Countryside Officer Comments and recommendations 
Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) Recommendations 
Archaeology Section Recommend conditions 
Environmental Health Officer Recommend condition 
Housing Services Comments and support 
Sustainable Places Team (Environment-Agency Yorkshire Area) Await response  
Yorkshire Housing Recommends approval 
Vale Of Pickering Internal Drainage Boards Objections 
Parish Council Objections 
Highways North Yorkshire Await response 
North Yorkshire Education Authority Additional comments 
Lead Local Flood Authority Comments and recommendations  

Neighbour responses:      Mrs S Russell, Mr And Mrs Holtby, L Keld, Richard 
Kimmings, Dr Paul Robb, Mr Bruce Corfe, Mrs Kathy Nicol, 
Mr David Hutchinson, Mr Richard Kimmings, Miss Amanda 
Fields, Mr & Mrs Lawrence, Mr E J Putniorz, 

In total this application is for the erection of 163 dwellings with associated garaging, parking, amenity 
areas, open space, ecological area, landscaping, associated infrastructure and the formation of vehicular 
access onto Firthland Road, Pickering. The application is a Major application and will ultimately be 
determined by Planning Committee.  At this stage, there are some key technical consultees outstanding 
and it is not possible therefore to present a full Officer report to Members, or to determine the 
application at the present time. The application has, however, already generated significant level of 
interest and in the interests of making timely progress, Officers consider that it would be beneficial if 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



_________________________________________________________________________________________

PLANNING COMMITTEE

13 March 2018

Members undertook a Site Inspection in order obtain a greater understanding of the site and its 
surroundings as large parts of the site are not open to public view. It is anticipated that a full Officer 
report will be presented to a future meeting of the Planning Committee.

RECOMMENDATION: Site Inspection 

Page 11



Page 12



PLANNING COMMITTEE

Item Number: 7
Application No: 17/01458/MFUL
Parish: Norton Town Council
Appn. Type: Full Application Major
Applicant: Willow Developments Ltd (Mr Wayne Butler)
Proposal: Change of use, alteration and extension to office building (Use Class B1) to 

form 6no. one-bedroom and 4no. two-bedroom residential apartments (Use 
Class C3) following demolition of existing conservatory (revised details to 
approval 16/01848/FUL dated 24.04.2017)

Location: Leat House  71 Welham Road Norton Malton YO17 9DS

Registration Date:  18 December 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  19 March 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  1 February 2018
Case Officer:  Niamh Bonner Ext: Ext 325

CONSULTATIONS:
Countryside Officer Condition recommended  
Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) Recommendations 
Highways North Yorkshire No objections 
Parish Council No objections subject to listing status 

Neighbour responses: No responses received 

SITE:

Leat House is a Grade II Listed Building situated within a corner plot at the junction of Beechwood 
Road and Welham Road.  

POLICIES: 

Local Plan Strategy -Policy SP1 General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New Housing
Local Plan Strategy -Policy SP9 The Land-Based and Rural Economy  
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP19 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance

PROPOSAL: 

The proposal seeks approval for the ‘Change of use, alteration and extension to office building (Use 
Class B1) to form 6no. one-bedroom and 4no. two-bedroom residential apartments (Use Class C3) 
following demolition of existing conservatory (revised details to approval 16/01848/FUL dated 
24.04.2017). ‘

This presents an alteration to the recently approved scheme and forms a major application due to the 
number of apartments present. The main differences in this application relate to:

 The provision of a further 10th apartment in a proposed single storey extension within the 
footprint of the previously demolished building. 

 Demolition of a small section of the south eastern, comprising moderns building fabric. 
 Internal alterations in relation to altered layouts, in the form of stud walls, new doorways and 

blocking up of existing doorways. 
 Replacement of a small staircase leading to the second floor. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



PLANNING COMMITTEE

HISTORY:

There is extensive planning history regarding the site, dating from 1975 - 1995. The building has been 
empty for approximately 4 years and has had multiple uses, including officers, a hotel, a bed and 
breakfast, private dwelling units and a convalescent house.

The most relevant recent planning history related to this property is the following: 

16/01848/FUL: Change of use and alterations to office building (Use Class B1) to form 4no. one-
bedroom and 5no. two-bedroom residential apartments (Use Class C3) following demolition of existing 
conservatory and single storey extensions to front and east elevations. Approved 
16/01849/LBC: External alterations to all elevations to include demolition of existing conservatory and 
single storey extensions, removal of fire escape, installation of 6no. timber windows and 2no. timber-
framed double doors and re-rendering of east elevation wall together with alterations to internal layout 
to form 9no. residential apartments. Approved
17/00866/FUL: Erection of single storey extension to east elevation to form a boiler room following the 
previously approved demolition of existing extensions. Approved
17/00879/LBC: Erection of single storey extension to east elevation to form a boiler room following the 
previously approved demolition of existing extensions. Approved
The following associated Listed Building Consent is also being pending consideration:
17/01459/LBC: External alterations to all elevations to include demolition of existing conservatory and 
single storey extensions, removal of fire escape, 1no. new window opening, alterations to some 
windows and doors and re-rendering of east elevation wall together with alterations to internal layout to 
form 10no. residential apartments (revised details to approval 16/01849/LBC dated 24.04.2017)

APPRAISAL:

The main considerations to be taken into account are:
i. The Principle of Development 
ii. Impact upon the Grade II Listed Building
iii. Impact upon neighbouring amenity
iv. Access and Highway safety
v. Trees
vi. Other Matters, including Consultation Responses

i) Principle

The principle of conversion of this listed building to provide apartments has already been established 
and an extant permission, 16/01848/FUL is present. As noted this application is a resubmission for the 
provision of 10 apartments, rather than the originally approved 9. 

The proposal also incorporates internal alterations to the proposed layout of the apartments upon that 
which was originally approved. 

ii) Impact upon the Grade II Listed Building

The Council’s Conservation Specialist and the Case Officer undertook a site visit, where the 
Conservation Specialist made the following response noting ‘no objection in principle, design concerns 
in relation to apartment 10’ in respect of the original design as part of the associated Listed Building 
Application, however it is considered relevant to include within this report also as a material planning 
consideration:

“Leat House is a Grade II Listed Building built as a private house and subsequently a hotel at the date 
of listing. For clarification, the list description uses the address 'Beechwood Road' rather than Welham 
Road. The house dates from the mid-late 18th century, extended in the early 19th century remodelled 
and further extension in the late 19th century. Subsequent additions and alterations have also occurred 
in the 20th century. It is apparent that there are many different build phases within the property. The 
house seems to have been built as a 3 storey 4 window property possibly with an earlier (or subservient) 

Page 14



PLANNING COMMITTEE

stone section to the rear. A substantial brick extension was subsequently built to the west of these 
buildings with a later 2 storey brick lean to added to the north-east and 2 storey extension added to the 
north-centre, a narrow 2 storey brick and tile hung extension added further to the west. A prominent 
conservatory is located to the south-east of the building. This is likely to have been a 19th century 
structure but has been substantially re-built and its form augmented with 20th century accretions and 
additions. Further ancillary buildings lie to the east of this formerly a boiler house possibly associated 
with the horticultural use of the conservatory. The spine wall of the conservatory separates the 
conservatory from the lean-to buildings to the north. These are possibly loosely 19th century in form, 
but have been re-formed to create shallow pitched lean-to structures in the late 20th century.  A 
substantial timber porch has been built on the front of the listed building. Internally there is north/south 
circulation in the form of the entrance foyer and staircase, and a secondary east/west corridor in the 
eastern end of the building.  Large reception rooms dominate the ground floor with some unfortunate 
office subdivision and extension to the south eastern principle room. The building has also been an 
office, and a convalescent home and has been unoccupied for c. 4 years. Planning Permission and 
Listed Building Consent were granted in 2016 for the change of use of the building from offices to 9 
residential apartments for which development has commenced. The building stands in grounds which 
have provided car parking/gardens. 

The above application proposes ‘External alterations to all elevations to include demolition of existing 
conservatory and single storey extensions, removal of fire escape, 1no. new window opening, 
alterations to some windows and doors, and re-rendering of east elevation wall together with 
alterations to internal layout to form 10 no. residential apartments (revised details to approval 
16/01849/lbc dated 24.04.2017)

This application seeks to re-configure some of the previously approved apartments and include an extra 
apartment where the former conservatory and lean-to structures were. I have no objection to the re-
configuration of the internal spaces which respond to the internal qualities of the listed building. I do 
however have some concern with the design of the new window w68 as this is located in the spine wall 
of the former conservatory and should respond to the differing hierarchies within the listed building 
and the differing qualities of the architecture. In my opinion this could be a ‘transition’ window 
between the polite face of the listed building and the new 21st century appearance of apartment 10.

Apartment 10 is located to the east of the listed building partly where the former conservatory was 
located and partly in the space that lean-to’s occupied behind the conservatory. Historically, it is likely 
that this area had been horticultural as there was a spine wall with a glazed structure to the south and 
mass walled slated brick ‘bothy’ type structures to the north and east. In the late 20th century, it 
appears that the bothies have been re-built in an elongated extended form that is unsympathetic to the 
character of the listed building. In the previous scheme the unsympathetic lean-to’s were proposed for 
demolition which was supported.  Subsequently, a modest boiler house was proposed in the location of 
the unsympathetic lean-to’s. 

The proposed footprint of Apartment 10 seeks to replicate the former late 20th century unsympathetic 
lean-to and in addition, augment it with additional building. 

In my opinion this design does not respond to a character that would be sympathetic to the special 
interest of the listed building. This is an area of potential interest in that it had a horticultural idiom 
with glazed structures to the south of the spine wall and bothy structures to the north of the spine wall. 
This could be used to inform design however the proposed design seems to be an unfortunate and 
awkward assemblage of horticulture, late 20th century unsympathetic lean-to’s and additional build in 
order to achieve 2 bedrooms. The projection to the south of the spine wall seems to be too short and 
stunted and does not adequately reference the proportions or roof pitch of a traditional glazed lean-to. 
The walling is too heavy and does not reference the light appearance and glazed nature of the previous 
structure. In addition, the use of stone does not relate to the diminishing hierarchies of the site and the 
former use of brick in this location. The structure to the north of the spine wall is too long giving it an 
unfortunate shallow roof pitch and takes its reference from a building that is unsympathetic to the listed 
building. Traditional materials of slate and brick could be used on the north side.”

Page 15



PLANNING COMMITTEE

An email was received from the agent on the 1st February to highlight in relation to window no. 68 that 
it was part of a previously approved scheme and the Building Conservation Specialist responded to note 
that on balance, this could therefore be considered acceptable to retain in any revised scheme.

Revised plans were received on the 16th February 2018, which indicate a more appropriately designed 
Apartment 10, with a more functional/horticultural appearance and the Building Conservation 
Specialist confirmed that the revised plans had overcome her previous concerns. 

It is therefore considered that this revised proposal would not result in harm to the character and 
significance of this heritage asset in accordance with Policy SP12 Heritage of the Ryedale Plan, Local 
Plan Strategy and national policy. 

iii) Impact upon neighbouring amenity

It is considered that due to there being an existing building on the site, the position of the proposed 
openings, the existing boundary treatments and the overall visual improvement of the building and the 
site, there will not a material adverse impact upon neighbouring occupiers. This is in terms of being 
overbearing in presence, causing loss of light or loss of privacy, complying with Policy SP20 of the 
Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

iv) Access and Highway safety 

The parking layout remains in the same location as the previously approved plans for approved 
application 16/01848/FUL. It is noted that the most recent site plan illustrates the parking provision 
being reduced by 1 space to 14 spaces, in order to facilitate the provision of 2 disabled parking spaces, 
which themselves, require additional space. 

A consultation response confirms that North Yorkshire Highways Team have no objections to the 
proposal, subject to the previous conditions being updated and repeated.  

Conditions 9 and 10, rather than requiring further precommencement information to be submitted 
indicate that otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, these details shall be as per 
the information submitted to discharge Conditions 3 and 4 of approved application 16/01858/FUL 
discharged under conditions application 17/00981/COND.

v) Impact upon Trees

The design and access statement notes that the revised scheme will have no impact upon the trees and 
this correlates with Officer opinion. However it is noted that some trees have been removed since the 
previous application, although as this site does not in a Conservation Area, there was no statutory 
protection afforded to these trees. A tree survey was submitted in respect of the site, produced in 2016 
by JCA Aboricultural and Ecological Consultants (Ref 13008T.)

It is not considered appropriate to require a landscaping scheme for this proposed development, given 
that there would be limited alterations to the external appearance of the building, aside from the erection 
of the single storey extension to the eastern elevation. Overall it is considered that this proposal would 
result in a significant enhancement to the character of the area. 

One protected Beech tree, subject to a tree preservation order was situated to the south of Leat House, 
outside of the red line plan which indicates ownership and it is noted that this tree appears in Council 
records to be associated with 69a Welham Road, not the application site. A site visit indicates that this 
protected tree has been removed and therefore the Countryside Officer has been made aware of this 
issue for investigation and members will be updated at the Committee Meeting. 

The extension to form Apartment 10 would be located within close proximity to two existing trees and 
the canopy spread of these trees would partly be located over this proposed extension, which would 
result in concerns in relation to their root protection during the construction phase. It is however 
important to note that the proposed extension, whilst in close proximity to these trees spans no closer to 

Page 16



PLANNING COMMITTEE

these trees than the previous development, which was demolished. The Council’s Countryside 
Specialist has been consulted with regard to this application and has recommended a condition in 
relation to root protection. 

It is noted that the previously approved scheme incorporated no alterations to the car parking areas, as 
confirmed by the agent and no alteration to this area proposed for the current application.  The agent has 
reconfirmed this to be the case for this current application. 

It is therefore considered that subject to the proposed condition, there will be no adverse impact upon 
the trees within the site. It is noted that previously no condition in relation to landscaping was requested 
and it is considered acceptable in this instance to be consistent with this approach. 

vi) Other Matters, including Consultation Responses

It is noted that no overall objection was received from Police Architectural Liaison Officer, however 
comments were received seeking the inclusion of a secure cycle storage unit within the scheme. 

The agent confirmed that this was not a requirement of the previous scheme for 9 units and that this 
secure cycle storage could be achieved by future residents within the communal areas. On balance, it is 
considered that this approach is acceptable, given the level of communal space available it is likely that 
future occupiers may prefer this approach. 

The Parish Council have confirmed no objection to the proposal. They did note the listing status of the 
building should be checked to ensure the fenestration and shell of the property were protected. It is 
noted that by nature of its listing, any works to Leat House that formed material alterations, including to 
the external appearance and fenestration would require listed building consent through the formal 
application process. 

No other letters of representation have been received. 

It is therefore considered that the proposal for the altered 10 apartments remains acceptable and subject 
to the recommended conditions, continues to accord with Policies SP1, SP2, SP9, SP12, SP19, SP20 of 
the Ryedale Plan Local Plan Strategy. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before .

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved documents/plan(s):

Site Location Plan
Elevation Survey - Leat House Sheet 1 of 2 (Drawing no WCG/0523T/12)
Elevation Survey - Leat House Sheet 2 of 2 (Drawing no WCG/0523E/2:2)
Internal Measured Survey Leat House - Ground Floor (Drawing no WCG/0523GF/1:1)
Internal Measured Survey Leat House - First Floor (Drawing no WCG/0523FF/1:1)
Internal Measured Survey Leat House - Second Floor (Drawing no WCG/0523SF/1:1)
Ground Floor Plans - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.15 Rev M)
First Floor Plans - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.16 Rev L)
Second Floor Plans - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.17 Rev E)
Elevation A - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.18 Rev K)
Elevation B - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.19 Rev D)
Elevation C - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.20 Rev F)

Page 17



PLANNING COMMITTEE

Elevation D - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.21 Rev K)
Site Plan - As Proposed (Drawing no. W102.01.14 Rev E)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of the development hereby 
permitted, or such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, details and samples of the materials to be used on the exterior of the building the 
subject of this permission shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These materials should include re-pointing if undertaken and rainwater goods.

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the Listed Building and to satisfy the 
requirements of Policies SP12, SP16 and SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

4 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of the development hereby 
permitted, details of all external joinery, including windows, doors and garage doors, 
including means of opening, depth of reveal and external finish shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be shown on a 1:10 scale 
drawing and include cross sections.

5 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to commencement of the development hereby 
permitted, the precise details including positioning and appearance of any mechanical 
extraction, ventilation or soil pipes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

6 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, precise details of any 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure an appropriate appearance of the Listed Building and to comply with the 
requirements of Policies SP12, SP16 and SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

7 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the:
Heritage Statement - Leat House, Norton dated November 2017 carried out by 2RB Planning 
(Rachael Bartlett).

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Reason: To ensure an appropriate appearance of the Listed Building and to comply with the 
requirements of Policies SP12, SP16 and SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

8 No dwelling shall be occupied until the related parking facilities have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved drawing number W102.01.14 Rev D. Once created these 
parking areas shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended 
purpose at all times.

Reason: In accordance with Policy SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy and to 
provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street accommodation for vehicles in 
the interest of safety and the general amenity of the development.

9 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, precautions to be 
taken to prevent the deposit of mud, grit and dirt on public highways by vehicles travelling to 
and from the site shall be as per the details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in relation to Condition 3 of approved scheme 16/01848/FUL, discharged 
under conditions application 17/00981/COND.

Reason: In accordance with Policy SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy and to 
ensure that no mud or other debris is deposited on the carriageway in the interests of highway 
safety.

Page 18



PLANNING COMMITTEE

10 Unless approved otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority the establishment of a 
site compound, site clearance, demolition, excavation or depositing of material in connection 
with the construction on the site shall undertaken as per the details submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority for Condition 4 of approved scheme 
16/01848/FUL, discharged under conditions application 17/00981/COND for the provision 
of:
a. on-site parking capable of accommodating all staff and sub-contractors vehicles clear of the 
public highway
b. on-site materials storage area capable of accommodating all materials required for the 
operation of the site.
c. The approved areas shall be kept available for their intended use at all times that 
construction works are in operation.

Reason: In accordance with Policy SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy and to 
provide for appropriate on-site vehicle parking and storage facilities, in the interests of 
highway safety and the general amenity of the area.

11 Before being herby approved, details of the form and position of fencing, which shall comply 
in full with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - 
Recommendations, for the protection of those trees, shrubs and natural features not scheduled 
for removal shall be submitted to and be to the written approval of the Local Planning 
authority, and such fencing shall be erected in the positions approved before the development 
is commenced and thereafter retained until such completion of the development, to the 
approval of the local Planning authority. 
Hereafter, the fencing shall be referred to as the 'approved protection zone'.

Reason: To preserve trees and hedges on the site in the interests of visual amenity and the 
character of the area, having regard to local plan policy SP13, coupled with paragraphs 
17,117, and 118 of the National Planning policy Framework 2012.

INFORMATIVE(S)

1 All bats and their roosts are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) and are further protected under 
section 41/42 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. Should any bats 
or evidence of bats be found prior to or during development, work must stop immediately and 
Natural England contacted for further advice. This is a legal requirement under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as Amended) and applied to whoever carried out the work.
Contact details: Natural England, 4th Floor, Foss House, Kings Pool, 1 - 2 Peasholme Green, 
York, YO1 7PX  Tel: 0300 060 1911

2 The applicant’s attention is drawn to the detailed security recommendations made within the 
consultation response received from the Police Architectural Liaisons Officers dated 22nd 
January 2018.

Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 8
Application No: 17/01500/MOUT
Parish: Pickering Town Council
Appn. Type: Outline Application  Major
Applicant: Toft Hill Ltd C/o Walker And Sons (Hauliers) Ltd
Proposal: Residential development of up to 11no. dwellings with associated access 

(site area 0.75ha)
Location: Land Off Ruffa Lane Pickering North Yorkshire

Registration Date:  8 January 2018
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  9 April 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  8 February 2018
Case Officer:  Rachael Balmer Ext: 357

CONSULTATIONS:

Archaeology Section Recommendations 
Lead Local Flood Authority additional comments 
Parish Council Objection 
Highways North Yorkshire Recommends conditions 
Housing Services Comments 
Environmental Health Officer  Await response 
Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning Recommends Conditions 
Countryside Officer Recommends conditions 
Lead Local Flood Authority Further information required  
Sustainable Places Team (Environment-Agency Yorkshire Area)  
Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) Advice and recommendations 
Vale Of Pickering Internal Drainage Boards Concerns 
Archaeology Section Advisory 

Neighbour responses: Nicholas, Clair And Rosie Cousins, Heather Hattersley, 
Sarah Tilston, Miss SALLY GREEN, Mr Daniel Bruce, 
Mr D W Ross, Dr David Capes, 

1.0 SITE:

1.1 The site extent comprises 0.75ha and is formed from the southernmost extent of a large, linear 
field (grazed, but cropped in the past) which is situated outside of the Development Limits of Pickering, 
on the north eastern extent of the settlement. The land is a rectangular shape, and there is a further strip 
of land to the north which is within the applicant's ownership, but not within the red outline of the site. 
The site is on both rising, and undulating land. There is a single smaller, open  field to the west of the 
site, and residential development has occurred to the south of the site with two dwellings in substantial 
curtilages, and to the west of those, a more concentrated built form, forming the extent of Pickering's 
built form, with the Persimmon scheme. To the west is ribbon development, which is separated from the 
site by the smaller field. The land is within the Fringe of the Moors Area of High Landscape Value. At 
the point of the site's entrance Ruffa Lane is a track. The field is surrounded by high hedges and is 
elevated from the Ruffa Lane track and Pluntrain Dale Lane, which is a well-incised track, running 
northwards to the immediate east of the site. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

2.0 PROPOSAL:

2.1 The proposal seeks outline permission for the development of up to 11 dwellings, with access 
to be considered. The application form states up to 11 dwellings, and the affordable housing 'heads of 
terms' also indicates up to 11 dwellings. All other matters are reserved, although an indicative layout 
has been provided which shows the scheme being a single row of properties, which are of two storeys in 
height. A road would be utilised laterally across the site at the front, with some limited open space 
between the road and the existing hedge. The proposed road access is situated on the south western 
corner of the site, adjacent to the existing access to the site which is identified as providing a footpath. 
The access is also on rising land. An indicative cross-section shows the road with garages/parking 
spaces and a mixture of detached and semi-detached properties.

2.2 Members will be aware that this site was subject of a planning application in 2017 for a larger 
site area, extending further upslope, which was for up to 30 dwellings.

2.3 As well as technical information: including a landscape and visual impact assessment, 
ecological assessment, flood risk assessment, and transport assessment, there is a design and access 
statement and planning statement. There is also a proposed site layout plan, and cross section plan to 
describe the proposed change in levels proposed at the site. An archaeological survey, utilising 
geophysical survey has been provided.  These documents include further information which has been 
provided for the purpose of considering the application.

3.0 HISTORY:

3.1 Planning permission for up to 30 dwellings was refused on a larger area of land (planning 
application 17/00894/MOUT) at Planning Committee, 24 October 2017. The application was refused 
on three grounds:
o The adverse impacts on the form and character of Pickering resulting from the proposed 
development;
o The adverse road layout resulting from the proposed development; and
o The proposed development would not complement the site allocations identified at Pickering 
to the meet the outstanding housing requirements identified in the Publication Local Plan Sites 
Document.   

4.0 POLICY:

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 confirms that the 
determination of any planning application must be made in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan comprises:

The Ryedale Local Plan Strategy (2013)
The Proposals Map (2002) carried forward by the Local Plan Strategy
The 'saved' policies of the Ryedale Local Plan (2002)
The Yorkshire and Humber Plan (Regional Spatial Strategy)- York Green Belt Policies (YH9 and Y1)

(The latter two components are not considered as part of the determination of this proposal)

The Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy (5 September 2013)

Policy SP1General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New housing
Policy SP3 Affordable Housing
Policy SP4 Type and Mix of New Housing
Policy SP12 Heritage 
Policy SP13 Landscapes
Policy SP14 Biodiversity

Page 51



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Policy SP15 Green Infrastructure
Policy SP16 Design
Policy SP17 Managing Air Quality, Land and Water Resources
Policy SP19 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues
Policy SP22 Planning Obligations, Developer Contributions and the Community Infrastructure Levy

Material Considerations:

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)
National Planning Practice Guidance
Emerging Local Plan Sites Document (Publication Stage reached 12 October 2017) Publication 
consultation ran from 11 November until 22 December 2017. 

5.0 CONSULTATIONS:

5.1 A brief summary of the position of statutory and non statutory consultees is included on the 
front sheet of the report and issues raised are addressed in the relevant appraisal sections of the report. 
All consultation responses are available for Members to view on the public access webpage, and 
referred to in the report accordingly.

5.2 Pickering Town Council have raised objections to the proposal, in summary:

 Constitutes an extension, though separated by a single field, to the ribbon development on the 
north side of Ruffa Lane and with the two dwellings to the south of the site could be said to fit 
more easily into the local built environment and the previous application to develop the site.

 However, the site is on rising land and the proposed estate would sit high and proud above the 
Ruffa Lane Track. The council's view is that the development would be jarringly obtrusive, 
viewable from a distance and thereby compromising the attractive, rural edge to the town and 
the Fringe of the Moors Area of High Landscape Value. 

 Questions the capability of residents to not be primarily dependent on their cars to access 
services, in part due to the bus services operating at not convenient times, and that the railway 
is for tourists and not commuters. 

 The Council has already agreed to support the allocation of land of Whitby Road and off 
Malton Road for housing development, thereby meeting the allocated number of new 
dwellings for the town. Therefore it does not see any need to develop additional land for 
housing, particularly when the development would be so obstructive in the landscape. 

5.3 In terms of neighbour responses, 6no. letters have been received from individuals.

In summary, the responses are concerned with the following matters:

 Extra traffic on overcrowded roads;
 Lane provides important recreational space- great amenity value- leading to nearby footpaths 

and green lanes 
 Smaller site, but an Estate is the long term plan, and development would overwhelm it.
 Ruin the character of the area- protection of Ruffa Lane's visual, historic and rural qualities    

was supported by Council
 Inadequate lane, with loss of hedgerows
 Agricultural field
 No need for this development in the area- other developments in Pickering which need to be 

completed before new developments are undertaken that will further stretch resources in the 
area.  

 Incongruous style and layout of the proposal by comparison with development in the 
surrounding area

 Proposed development is proposing to replicate linear string development present along the 

Page 52



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

northern border of Ruffa Lane, but the area is separated from the nearest dwelling by 50 
metres of pasture land. 

 To reduce the visual impact landscaping with excavation of the site is proposed, with a 
retaining wall this is rudimentary and inaccurate. The depth of the site has been stated as 
140m when it is 105m and the approximate gradient of the site is 7.7% and not 6%, and this 
has been used to estimate the height of the retaining wall, which will vary across the site, if 
that level is maintained. The retaining will also transect two of the buildings shown on the site 
layout plan. 

 Excavation and landscaping to the required extent will involve far more than the relocation of 
topsoil. 

 Still will elevate the site well above the bungalow which is 50 metres to the west, and will be 
two storey and will still create an unwelcome visual impact.

 Highways authority recommended refusal on the earlier application, but the applicant has 
engaged a transport specialist who will be liaising with highways regarding acceptable 
alterations to Ruffa Lane and Whitfield Avenue junction. 

 Original site was put forward for adoption through the Local Site Plan, but was rejected due to 
the topography of the site, distance from the main town settlement, poor accessibility to local 
facilities and being in a mineral safeguarding area.

 If an authority can demonstrate a valid up to date local site plan then unless there a strong 
material considerations favouring a site not included in the plan should be refused.

 The planning statement which claims to provide sustainability, but this is at odds with the 
Authority's refusal of the application by way of poor performance in the Sustainability 
Appraisal process. 

 Outside of the Development Limits of the town
 Open farmland in an area designated as having outstanding landscape value. It is on the 

Moorland Fringe and is 650m from the western boundary of the North York Moors National 
Park 

 Our dormer bungalow was approved, with a previous two storey property refused due to 
design and visual impact. 

 Our property is some 10 metres lower than the proposed development, which proposed two-
storey accommodation. 

 That the use of SUDs is not appropriate with the clay subsoil. - complaints of standing water
 Failed to demonstrate material considerations that would justify departing from the sites 

identified in the Local Site Plan, and the approval would be in conflict with planning 
guidelines.  

 The applicant's own landscape assessment shows the visual intrusion, and this is with the 
benefit of summer vegetation, in the winter there will be no foliage screening. 

 Site is remote in relation to the form of Pickering.
 Since applications have been approved for hundreds of houses, and much more suitable sites 

at Goslipgate and Malton Road securing the building land quotas 
 The agricultural helps to reduce flooding issues, as it is more capable of absorbing excess 

water  than with tarmac
 The previous planning application was refused
 Proposed site is not in the town plan, with only 3 dwellings to the south of this site it will be 

unbalanced and not in keeping with the north site of Ruffa Lane housing types
 Reducing the amount of small houses to a less number of larger houses would not reduce the 

volume of traffic to significantly enough to make the junction safer
 Lowering the ground may lower the impact to the west, but the visual impact to the south and 

east will be an eyesore
 No details of the removal of foul sewage
 There are three ponds full of rain water containing a thriving colony of Great Crested Newts 

Page 53



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

6.0 APPRAISAL:

6.1 The main considerations to be taken into account are: 

i) Principle of development 
ii) Landscape impact, and form and character impact
iii) Site-specific considerations
iv) Further statutory considerations

i) Principle of Development 

Policy considerations

6.2 The site is not allocated in the Development Plan for residential development. The principle of 
development would be established if Members are minded to grant permission, taking account of 
strategic policies of the Development Plan and other material considerations. 

6.3 Policy SP1- General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy- identifies Pickering 
is a Local Service Centre, and a secondary focus for growth. Pickering is expected to have allocations at 
the town, which would cumulatively deliver at least 750 dwellings over the plan period (2027). Since 
the adoption of the Plan in 2013 a number of permissions have been granted and some of these are 
completed. The allocations required to meet the residual requirement have been identified (through 
Members agreeing the Publication of the Local Plan Sites Document, but they are not yet adopted at the 
time of writing this report. As such the site is on the edge of Pickering, and therefore is broadly in 
conformity with Policy SP1. 

6.4 Policy SP2- Delivery and Distribution of Housing- builds on the principles of SP1, and sets 
out the scenarios for residential development. For Pickering, within the context of new build 
development outside of the Development Limits this includes: Allocations in and adjacent to the built 
up area. As such, whilst the proposal is broadly consistent with the wording of Policy SP2, Members 
will need to consider whether there is a need to release the site; and in doing so whether there is an 
adverse impact which would result from the development. The site is however, not strictly adjacent to 
Development Limits, because of the road to the south, and the field to the west, and this is considered 
within the form and character considerations. The site is also at the very end of Ruffa Lane, the site is 
c.1km from the primary school, the nearest key facility. The road is also narrow, and whilst there are 
footpaths, it is not considered that site has good accessibility to the facilities and services of Pickering. 
The bus stops are also 0.25 and 0.4 kilometres from the site, making them unlikely to be used by those 
with reduced mobility. The Planning Statement has also referred to the Pickering Train Station as a 
transport facility. Members will be aware that this line (North Yorkshire Moors Railway) is run for 
tourists, and is not linked in a meaningful way to any significant settlement in a reasonable commuting 
distance. The earliest train to Whitby is 9:25 and arrives at 11.09.

The land supply position and need

6.5 The five year land supply position for 2017-18 has been calculated and trajectorised. In 
conjunction with the operation of the 'Local Buffer' (which allows for a 25% uplift in any year's 
completions- without penalty on the following five year's supply) resulting in between 184 and 200 
homes per year- and accordingly the land supply is 6.50 or 6 years, respectively. This is a robust level of 
supply. As such paragraph 49 of the NPPF is not engaged, meaning that all the policies of the 
Development Plan have full weight. Members are in the position to decide whether the benefits of the 
proposal outweigh any harm identified, which they view as being contrary to the Development Plan's 
provisions. It is also of relevance that in 2016 the Council commissioned a Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment. This concluded that the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for Ryedale (excluding the 
national Park) is 206 dwellings per annum. When considering the existing Plan requirement of 200 
homes, in conjunction with the operation of the Local Buffer (as discussed) above, the Plan remains 
entirely appropriate in meeting the OAN. 

Page 54



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

6.6 Affordable housing need is recognised as a materially significant consideration. The draft 
heads of terms have been provided, and identified that affordable housing delivery of 5 units on site. 
This is a level of affordable housing that is above and beyond Policy SP3 -resulting in 45% affordable 
housing, instead of 35%. The Council's People Team are satisfied with the proposed contribution, 
subject to the adherence with nationally -based floor space standards, and breakdown of property sizes. 
Although, the People Team have advised that they would be happy with 3x 2 bed units (one 
intermediate tenure, two for rent), with a 0.85 commuted sum through a s.106 Agreement. As the 
Council cannot insist through the planning application process on the extra 1.15 units, the undertaking 
for this would be through a separate Unilateral Undertaking, where the landowner makes the obligation 
through a legal agreement without the agreement of the Local Planning Authority.  The delivery of 
affordable housing is a benefit of the scheme. The applicants have stressed that there has been under-
delivery of affordable housing. The fact that there has been some under-delivery is not disputed. 
However, Members will be considering whether the proposed 3 affordable dwellings plus commuted 
sum, as required by the Development Plan, and any potential Unilateral Undertaking results in scheme 
which is capable of delivering a Plan-compliant development. If Members were minded to approve this 
proposal, the precise amount of affordable housing contributions would be set out in the s.106, 
acknowledging that there may/may not be a separate unilateral undertaking for the extra contribution. 
 
The Emerging Local Plan Sites Document as a Material Consideration

6.7 The broad extent of this site has been submitted for consideration through the Development 
Plan production process (site 630).  Members may recall that this site was part of the 2015 Sites 
Consultation, alongside the full development of the entire field (site 387). Neither proposal was 
considered to represent a site which demonstrated potential as an allocation. Indeed both site 
submission configurations were identified as Group 2 Sites; whereby issues with the site were not 
considered capable of resolution. The principal concerns were raised on the basis of the landscape 
sensitivity and poor relationship with the built form of the town. However, this aspect is considered in 
the following paragraphs in terms of the assessment of the site as it is proposed, on its own merits. 

6.8 Members will be aware that Council made decisions on the sites to be identified as 
allocations, as part of agreeing the Publication of the Local Plan Sites Document (12 October 2017). 
This site is not identified as an allocation, and other sites which were not identified as allocations 
performed better through the Sustainability Appraisal than this site. Prior to the making of this planning 
application, the Publication consultation on the Local Plan Sites Document was undertaken between 11 
November and 22 December 2017. It should be noted that as part of that consultation, there has not been 
any form of objection to the non-inclusion of the site as part of the emerging Development Plan.

6.9 Consultee responses have referred to the granted applications of schemes at Whitby Road 
(proposed allocation) and Firthland Road. Members will be aware that these applications have been 
submitted, but are not determined. 

6.10 Publication is a formal, advanced stage of the Development Plan production process. It 
identifies the component of the Development Plan which the Local Planning Authority consider to be 
submitted and examined in due course. The Local Plan Sites Document is not yet a constituent of the 
Development Plan- and does not have full weight-it is nevertheless a 'material consideration' to which 
weight can be attributed. Objections to a Plan can further temper the level of weight to be attributed, but 
it should be noted that this site's exclusion has not been objected to, nor its inclusion supported. 
Therefore a decision to approve this application, could be deemed a 'prematurity matter' i.e. a decision 
which is considered to be contrary to the emerging Development Plan. 

6.11 This site is therefore to be considered within the policy context of the adopted Development 
Plan. The Local Plan Sites Document is a material consideration of some weight. Furthermore, with the 
land supply in excess of 5 years, it is not considered that there are any material considerations which 
warrant a departure from the Development Plan, in terms of housing land supply, and as such the site is 
considered against the Policies of the Ryedale Local Plan-Local Plan Strategy (LPS). 

Page 55



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

ii) Landscape Impact and Form and Character Impacts

6.12 The features of this site are typical of the Landscape Character Assessment which identifies 
the land as being part of the Linear Scarp Farmland. The key characteristic features are:

 Panoramic views from the escarpment ridge out across the Vale of Pickering to the South;
 Attractive rural qualities with a medium to large scale field mosaic containing prominent 

hedgerows and woodland blocks;
 settlements concentrated along the foot of the slope;
 Dynamic, rhythmic quality to the undulating relief;
 North south orientated dry valleys and road; and
 Strong medieval field pattern around Pickering. 

6.13 Whilst this field is not identified as being part of the historic strip field system, it has a strong 
linear form, and contributes significantly to the landscape character of this part of Pickering through the 
presence of the mature hedgerows, and its sloping form, which also has some undulating relief. Despite 
its relative closeness to Pickering, the site displays a strongly rural character, which is experienced on 
site.  Pickering, like other settlements on the fringe of the Vale of Pickering, is concentrated on the foot 
of the slope, with development also extending northwards, where it follows the dale.  The development 
of this site, would result in a discordant, prominent form of development, which would be viewable at 
distance, notably from the A170. There is c. 600 metres between the site and the North York Moors 
National Park boundary to the immediate east of the site, which can be accessed along a public right of 
way. The intervening topography means that that the development's potential ability to affect the setting 
of the National Park is likely to be wholly constrained, based on one or two storey dwellings. However, 
the site is viewable along publically accessible walking routes, which are used by walkers and dog 
walkers, as referred to in comments made, and experienced by Officers on site, and is an important 
component in the entrance into the settlement at this part of Pickering. The site, and the surrounding 
land plays an important role in the landscape setting in this part of Pickering.  

6.14 LPS Policy SP13 - Landscape - identifies, alongside the Proposal Map, that the undeveloped 
area north of Pickering from the A170 is identified as being within the Fringe of the Moors Area of High 
Landscape Value. This is so identified for its natural beauty and scenic qualities. It recognises that there 
are also sensitivities, particularly with the rising elevation, the strong linearity of the field patterns. 
Policy SP13 also recognises that as well as protecting the distinctive elements of the landscape 
character of these areas, there are particular visual sensitivities given the sloping topography, and the 
ability to achieve long-distance skyline views within Ryedale, and further a field. On that basis, it is 
considered that the development would not accord with SP13 in principle.

6.15 LPS Policy SP20- Generic Development Management Issues- considers the impact of 
development on the character of the area, and the design implications of development. 
New development is expected to respect the character and context of the immediate locality and the 
wider landscape/townscape character in terms of physical features and the type and variety of existing 
uses. Expanding on this, Policy SP16 - Design- requires that development proposals create high quality 
durable places that are accessible, well integrated with their surroundings and which, amongst other 
aspects, reinforce local distinctiveness through the location, siting form, layout and scale of new 
development respecting the context provided by its surroundings including: topography and landform 
that shape the form and structure of settlements in the landscape, and that views, vistas and skylines that 
are provided and framed by the above.  
 
6.16 On first inspection of the site location plan; the site is close to the built edge of Pickering. 
However, when the site is viewed with the context of the surrounding area it displays a surprising level 
of rurality. The proposal is building upslope in a particularly visually prominent manner: The land is 
primarily rising to the north, and the applicant's submissions indicate a rise of c.5 metres of elevation 
from the southern extent, and within this there are topographical variations which mean the site is not 
capable of being read to any significant degree in context with the built form of Pickering due to the way 
in which the land rises to the west of the site, and falls to the east. To the immediate south of the site is 
a single, one and half storey property and to the south, further to the west, is the extent of Pickering's 

Page 56



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

main built form, including the recently constructed scheme at Whitfield Avenue. None of the properties 
to the west are viewable from the eastern half of the site, but once within the site, on higher land some of 
the properties to the west are likely to be visible. The hedgerows are seen by the applicant as a key 
mitigation regarding landscape setting, and 'screening of the site'. Hedgerows have been allowed to 
increase in their height since earlier site assessment was undertaken in the spring of 2017. 

6.17 Ruffa Lane is characterised by ribbon development to the north, and to the south a number of 
streets have followed the linear form of the original strip fields which would have surrounded Pickering 
in the medieval period (and still do today in large part). It is important to note that whilst the appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale are reserved matters, it is clear that the broad layout can be ascertained as 
a linear strip, replicating the appearance of ribbon development, by virtue of the road, which is not a 
development form which is considered appropriate in terms of efficient use of land and inclusive 
layouts. The topographical matters are discussed above, and even if the dwellings were single storey, 
they would result in skyline development, and would have a strongly suburbanising effect on what is 
one of the most attractive rural edges and settings to Pickering. The applicants have sought to refer to 
the recent Persimmon development at Whitfield Avenue as demonstrating the proximity to the 
substantive built form of Pickering. However, the Whitfield Avenue scheme is well contained by 
existing development, and there are five properties which are situated in between existing dwellings on 
the frontage of Ruffa Lane, off to the south western corner of the site. Considering each site on its 
merits, the Whitfield Avenue site is much more integrated into the built form of Pickering.  The 
condition of Ruffa Lane, and the size of the site and its topography have influenced the scheme, the 
resulting development would, be in terms of its view from Ruffa Lane, would be  ribbon development 
albeit with the hedge in front, and garages/parking at the south/front of the site. As such it is considered 
were development to take place would result in a confused, suburbanising form would relate poorly to 
the existing built form in the locality. 

6.18 The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has identified excavation on the south 
component of the site as the main mitigation for reducing the 'mass' and elevation of the dwellings 
(which are indicated as two storey) relative to the existing dwellings on the southern element of Ruffa 
Lane to the south of the site. An indicative cross section has been submitted to illustrate the impact 
(noting concerns about the measuring and varying impact of the retaining wall). Whilst landscaping is a 
reserved matter, the impact of the principle of residential development on the landscape setting of 
Pickering and the form and character of Pickering still needs to be considered in the outline permission. 
Policy SP16, Design, referred to earlier, expects that local distinctiveness should be reinforced through 
amongst other matters the location and siting of development, and respecting the context provided by its 
surroundings including, the topography and landform that shape the form and structure of settlements in 
the landscape. It is considered that the excavation would constitute substantial loss of the landform 
context of the site, and this would be contrary to SP16, as the development would not respect the 
landform context. By virtue of the topography and general elevation of the site, development would be 
visually prominent without the reduction in levels. On that basis, the proposed mitigation to reduce the 
identified impact, but is unlikely to be supported if the application is approved and it is proposed as part 
of the Reserved Matters. 

6.19 In terms of designing out crime, the Police Designing Out Crime Officer has provided a 
condition which requires the submission of further information about certain elements of the scheme as 
part of the Reserve Matters, should the approval be given. These relate to:

 Defining defensible space and creation of front gardens with low railing/wall/planting;
 Reinforcement of boundaries for properties adjacent to Pluntrain Dale Lane;
 Surveillance, lighting, and planting to reduce screening
 Target hardening (physical security of doors, windows etc.)
 Ensuring tenure 'blindness' where there is no distinguishing between different property 

tenures and their integration across the site. 

6.20 In summary, the lack of integration with the existing built form, the elevated and exposed 
position of the site will result in a discordant, visually prominent development in what is a sensitive, 
strongly rural edge to Pickering, and that the development would conflict with Policies SP16 and SP20.  

Page 57



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter, the proposed mitigation would, in itself, be contrary to Policy 
SP16. These concerns have also been identified within the representations made by the Town Council 
and those individuals who have made representations. 

iii) Site Specific Matters:

6.21 Policy SP20- Generic Development Management Issues, also covers accessing parking and 
Servicing. In terms of access, parking and serving, the Highway Authority have now provided a formal 
response which sets out a series of conditions they would seek to have applied, if permission is granted. 

6.22 Policy SP4- Type and mix of new housing -  to ensure that the resulting development 
contributes to provision of a balanced housing stock, in terms of sizes, and number of bedrooms, and  
ensure a well-designed inclusive scheme. This is, save for the principal affordable housing 
considerations, something to be considered as a Reserved Matter, if the outline was approved. 

6.23 Policy SP17- The site is within Flood Zone 1, and within Ground Source Protection Zone 
level 3.  A Flood Risk Assessment was produced. There has been extensive discussions between the 
engineer for the applicant and the LLFA regarding matters of detail concerning surface water 
management, and in particular infiltration testing.  Discussions resolved the following matters: 

 Peak Flow,
 Pollution control
 Volume Control
 Designing for Exceedance 
 Climate Change and Urban Creep
 Maintenance agreements

But matter of the percolation testing has not been resolved. The LLFA have advised: 

"According to the Flood Risk Assessment (V4) Document for the above application (Ref: 74213, Dated 
December 2017), surface water will be managed through infiltration on site, however the applicant is 
yet to provide results from percolation tests. This is our favoured option when considering runoff 
destination in the drainage hierarchy and should be undertaken by each developer, unless there are 
mitigating circumstances.

Testing is required to determine soil infiltration rates and are to be carried out in accordance with BRE 
365 Soakaway Design (2003) and CIRIA Report 156 Infiltration drainage - manual of good practice 
(1996). Method of test must be relevant to the proposed SuDS and extrapolated test data will not be 
accepted.

It is requested that these are submitted to the LPA for analysis to ensure their strategy is feasible and 
resilient. Please note, this is not a refusal but are prerequisite before further consideration is given to 
their SuDS."

6.24 The Vale of Pickering IDB, whilst not objecting to the proposal, have commented that the 
nature of the impermeability of the soils will make the use of SuDs a challenge. 

6.25 Yorkshire Water have advised conditions be attached regarding the disposal of foul water and 
surface water utilising separate systems. In respect of surface water, as the site is within Zone 3 of the 
Ground Source Protection Zone, the use of SuDs will only be acceptable if uncontaminated surface 
water utilises SuDs, and not connecting in to gullies. The use of public or private sewers would need the 
approval of the relevant owner.

6.26 As such, the absence of the percolation tests make it challenging to establish the conclusive 
position regarding the drainage strategy, which is a prerequisite of establishing the principle of 
development on the site. As such, the proposal is considered to not be in accordance to the provisions of 
SP17 concerning reducing flood risk, and appropriate surface water management, due to the absence of 

Page 58



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

the evidence to determine the detailed conditions regarding treatment of surface water. 

6.27 In respect of Policy SP11- Community Facilities and Services- no on-site formal children's 
place space would be required on a scheme of this size. However, on-site amenity space would be 
expected. Aligned to this, Policy SP15 - Green Infrastructure - requires that Green Infrastructure 
Corridors would be expected in a scheme where hedgerows are an important element of the landscape 
character, and for their ability to form integrated developments where biodiversity and recreational 
activity enhance the development. All matters save access are reserved, but the indicative layout and 
landscaping scheme has identified the retention of the hedges, and the general amenity space is between 
the hedge and the road. The applicants are aware of the CIL charge, and have completed the relevant 
information, although the ability to calculate the CIL charge would only be possible once floor areas are 
available. 

iv) Further Statutory Considerations:

6.28 The Design and Access Statement has identified that the impact on designated heritage assets 
is negligible, due to intervening development and topographical features, site evaluation concurs with 
this. Policy SP12- Heritage- also considers non-designated heritage. In the previous application it was 
noted that archaeological features are described as being within the immediate vicinity. In response to 
the previous planning application a geophysical survey was undertaken to accompany this application. 
Geophysical survey results described by the County Heritage Unit:

"The survey has shown a number of anomalies including two rectangular features, one with internal 
divisions. These anomalies may indicate features with stone foundations of unknown date, but pre-
dating the 19th century. The rectilinear form suggests either Roman or Medieval dates. These are very 
geometric and there is the possibility that they represent very significant archaeological remains.  In 
addition there is a cluster of possible pit features and a curvilinear feature in the north eastern corner of 
the site."

6.29 County Heritage Unit's Response was that in order to understand the significance of the 
heritage assets identified, trial trenching should be undertaken prior to determination. The applicant was 
advised of the Heritage Unit's response, but they have taken the view that a trial trenching can be 
undertaken as part of the Reserved Matters application, and provided three different sites where 
archaeological survey was conditioned. Officers have read the reports, which are of different 
archaeological context with the background information absent. Officers concur with the Heritage 
Unit's response due to the findings of the geophysical survey for the following reasons.

6.30 County Heritage have raised concerns about trial trenching post determination on this site due 
to the potentially very significant findings in the geophysical survey. Whilst the scheme is outline, with 
all matters except access reserved, the outline application is the planning permission, which establishes 
the principle of the site's development: 

"At the present time, the archaeological information submitted with this application does not meet the 
requirements of policy 128 of the NPPF. The date and level of preservation of the features detected by 
geophysical survey is at present unknown.  

We would not advise archaeological trial trenching is done by condition, as trial trenching is an 
evaluation technique designed to assess the significance and potential of archaeological remains and the 
impact upon them caused by development.  As per paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), assessing the potential of a site is expected to be undertaken pre-determination to 
allow for an informed planning decision to be taken.

In this case the geophysical survey has identified anomalies consistent with stone-founded buildings.  
These do not appear on historic maps suggesting that they are of some interest.  The likely possibilities 
in this area are a Roman villa (very significant), medieval longhouses or religious house (significant or 
very significant) or a post medieval barn (not very significant).

If the nature of the remains can be assessed pre-determination then the applicant may have the 

Page 59



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

opportunity to re-design the development to avoid the most significant archaeology.  Securing 
archaeological evaluation work through a planning condition could expose the developer to significant 
risk with the possibility of very significant and unquantified archaeological and related costs and 
delays."

6.31 The County Heritage Unit have concluded that without the trial trenching there is "insufficient 
information from which to form a reasonable planning decision relating to the impact of the 
development on heritage assets of archaeological interest".

6.32 The site is not within the Vale of Pickering National Landscape Character Area. However, the 
Statement of Significance of the Vale of Pickering, prepared by Historic England with Partners, has 
identified that part of the significance of the Vale of Pickering is the historic relationship of the vale 
land with that of the adjacent rising land as part of a cultural landscape: p17.    

"The  Vale  of  Pickering is most often distinguished in 3 topographical  zones:  the  higher  ground  on  
the  northern,  southern  and  western  slopes; the  former  lake  margin; and  the  Vale   bottom.   
Settlement   is   predominantly   on   the northern   and   southern   slopes,   with   occasional, scattered 
settlement in the centre.  The topographic and geographical variation means the 'concept' of the Vale of 
Pickering encompasses the slopes on the northern, southern and western sides. This is broader than that 
defined by the National Character Area, which is defined more by the modern infrastructure of roads 
than by the shape of the land."

6.33 Policy SP12, it states that:
"Development proposals which would result in substantial harm to or total loss of the significance of a 
designated assets or to the archaeological significance of the Vale of Pickering will be resisted unless 
wholly exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated. Proposals which would result in less than 
substantial harm will only be agreed where the public benefit of the proposal is considered to outweigh 
the harm and extent of harm to the asset.

In considering and negotiating development proposal, the Council will seek to protect other features of 
local historic value and interest throughout Ryedale having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and 
the significance of the heritage asset."

6.34 Such heritage assets may therefore be significant with the context of the archaeological 
landscape of the Vale of Pickering, and accordingly may be relevant to paragraph 139 of the NPPF, 
which states that non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 
equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the policies for 
designated heritage assets. 

6.35 This proposal is for outline planning permission, which establishes the principle, and whilst 
landscaping is identified as a Reserved Matters, part of the landscape 'mitigation' identified for the site 
within the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment involves excavation of the site (despite 
reservations of the approach earlier in the report) to reduce the elevation, and this could result in 
substantial harm or loss of heritage assets. The site is also narrow, within a strip- leaving limited means 
of re-design/alternative layouts, particularly since the access is not reserved. It is therefore considered 
that without the evidence to demonstrate to the contrary the proposal is contrary to the provisions of 
Policy SP12 which ultimately seeks to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is understood and 
the extent to which harm to that significance can be identified, and weighed, in the planning balance, as 
required by paragraph 128 of the NPPF. This proposal does not have the evidence with which to make 
that judgement. 

6.36 In terms of matters regarding the ecological implications of the development, the site is a 
currently grazed field, part of a much larger field, with no specific biodiversity designations. The site is 
within the buffer zone for considering the presence of Golden Plover, who can forage and loaf on farm 
land, and this is a species identified as a reason for the North York Moors SPA designation. An 
assessment was undertaken which found no presence of the Gold Plover.   The Senior Specialist Place 
(Ecology) has advised that 

Page 60



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

"The proposed development site is bounded on three sides by native broadleaved hedgerows.  This 
proposal would retrain all the hedges and would give and opportunity to create additional plantings 
along the northern field boundary. The existing arable field is of little ecological value other than a sky 
lark was noted singing in the NW corner. Barn owl pellets were found in a disused building 20m North 
east of the site either a roost or feeding perch. No bat work was undertaken but due to the location 
adjacent to the hedged linear feature Ruffa Lane and in close proximity to woodland to the East it is 
suspected that bats will be using the southern hedge for foraging or as a commuting roost. 

Great crested newt was found in a pond some way to the north and a previous mitigation scheme has 
created GCN  breeding ponds approximately 110m to the south of the site ( the garden of 117 Ruffa 
Lane), although there is limited suitable terrestrial habitat on site. 

The ecological survey report (Quants May 2017) recommends that an Ecological Enhancement Plan be 
drawn up and a precautionary Method Statement be adopted to reduce impacts on Great crested newts. 

I therefore recommend the following conditions be attached to any planning permission granted. 

The pre-commencement conditions proposed are, in summary concerning:

 Biodiversity Method Statement in relation to the protection of great crested newts 
 Sensitive lighting scheme
 Ecological/ Landscape/Enhancement plan

Conclusion

6.37 Considering this scheme in accordance with the provisions of the adopted Development Plan, 
it is clear that there are significant concerns with the proposal. Whilst this site's location is broadly in 
conformity with the Policies of SP1 and SP2, being adjacent to Pickering, the site is distanced from 
services and facilities, and is unlikely to deliver sustainable modes of access, and there are site-specific 
issues. 

6.38 The scheme would deliver 3 on-site affordable units and a 0.85 unit commuted sum, which is 
Plan-compliant. Whilst this may be increased with a Unilateral Undertaking- which is a material 
consideration, it has both limited weight on the basis that it is not required by the provisions of the 
Development Plan, and because it would only result in 1.15 units more. The plan-compliant affordable 
housing provision, and any derived through the Unilateral Undertaking must be weighed in the balance 
with the adverse impacts identified in this report.

6.39 The lack of evidence to understand the significance of identified heritage assets on the site, 
within the context of the Vale of Pickering Cultural landscape is contrary to the provisions of Policy 
SP12, which ultimately seeks to ensure that the significance of heritage assets is understood and the 
extent to which harm to that significance can be identified, and weighed, in the planning balance. This 
proposal does not have the evidence with which to make that judgement. 

6.40 The absence of the percolation tests make it challenging to establish the conclusive position 
regarding the drainage strategy,  approval would be contrary to SP17 concerning reducing flood risk, 
and appropriate surface water management, due to the absence of the evidence to determine the detailed 
conditions regarding treatment of surface water.

6.41 There are significant concerns regarding the adverse impact on the form and character of 
Pickering, and the landscape setting in which the proposed development is situated. It is considered that 
the provision of affordable housing at any extent would not outweigh the adverse impacts of the 
development to the character and landscape of this part of Pickering, primarily because of the site's lack 
of clear integration with the existing built form of Pickering, and because of the site's topographical 
variations, which are proposed to be 'removed' through excavation, and landscape sensitivity on this 
rising land. Contrary to Policies SP13, SP16 and SP20.

Page 61



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

6.42 The Publication of the Local Plan Sites Document (LPSD) has been undertaken, and the 
Council is close to Submission. The LPSD identifies the proposed Plan-led approach to meeting 
development requirements in Pickering up to 2027. This site is not identified as an allocation, nor 
previous submissions of the site performed well enough to even be identified as site options as part of 
the Sustainability Appraisal process. It is considered that approval of this scheme would be contrary to 
the provisions of the well-advanced Local Plan Sites Document. No representations at Publication have 
been made in support of the inclusion of site extent of 630 or any derivation thereof. 

6.43 Due to the identified material harm to the landscape setting of Pickering, and adverse form 
and character impacts, and the concerns around the lack of ability to understand the impact on heritage 
assets and drainage considerations. In respect of consideration of Policy SP19- Presumption in Favour 
of Sustainable Development, the proposal cannot be made acceptable and therefore considered to not 
accord with the established Development Plan, and the emerging Development Plan. Accordingly, this 
application is therefore recommended for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION: Refusal 

1 The proposed development would have a significant adverse impact on the form and character 
of Pickering, resulting in an incongruous built form, relative to existing properties. The site is 
within the general landscape of rising land, coupled with the undulations of the site would 
result in a visually prominent development, at an edge of Pickering which has maintained, 
despite some residential development in proximity, a strongly rural character. Mitigation has 
been identified which removes this feature, by flattening the site, and this does not respect the 
distinctive landscape features of the site. Accordingly, this would be contrary to Policy SP13 -
Landscape; Policy SP16- Design and Policy SP20 -Generic Development Management 
Issues.

2 The absence of trial trenching of the site has resulted in the inability to understand the 
significance of identified heritage assets as recorded in the geophysical survey. The County 
Heritage Unit have noted that there is potentially archaeology which may be of considerable 
significance, which relates to the Vale of Pickering- but this cannot be ascertained. This is 
contrary to Paragraph 128 of the NPPF, and Policy SP12- Heritage.

3 The absence of the percolation tests means that it has not been possible to establish a 
comprehensive drainage strategy for the site. Accordingly, approval of the application would 
be contrary to SP17- Managing Air Quality, Land and Water resources.

4 The scheme is proposed is for up to 11 units, which would have a limited impact on housing 
land supply position at Pickering. However, for the reasons identified above the proposed 
development is contrary to the adopted Development Plan. Furthermore, its development 
would also not complement the site allocations identified at Pickering, to meet the outstanding 
housing requirement at the settlement, identified in the Publication Local Plan Sites 
Document (LPSD). The previously submitted site extent in this location performed poorly 
through the Sustainability Appraisal process. Approval of this development would therefore 
also be in conflict with the emerging LPSD. No representations as part of the Publication of 
the LPSD have been made which support the identification of the site as an allocation.

5 The identified benefits of the scheme do not outweigh the identified harm and non-
compliance with policies of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy when read as a whole. 
Chapter 5, Part 3 'The Development Plan' s.38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 requires that "determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise".

Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 9
Application No: 17/01509/MREM
Parish: Malton Town Council
Appn. Type: Approval of Reserved Matters Major
Applicant: Broadacre Services Limited
Proposal: Erection of 18no. three bedroom dwellings, 34no. two bedroom dwellings 

and 4no. one bedroom dwellings with associated infrastructure and 
landscaping (outline approval 14/00429/MOUTE dated 24.03.2015 refers)

Location: Land At Rainbow Lane Malton North Yorkshire

Registration Date:   9 January 2018
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  10 April 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  12 March 2018
Case Officer:  Gary Housden Ext: 307

CONSULTATIONS:

Highways North Yorkshire Comments 
Parish Council Recommend refusal 
Environmental Health Officer  Await response
Lead Local Flood Authority  Await response
Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning Recommendations and request revised plans
Sustainable Places Team (Environment-Agency Yorkshire Area) No objection 
Vale Of Pickering Internal Drainage Boards No further comments 
Countryside Officer  Await response 
NY Highways & Transportation Recommend conditions 
North Yorkshire Education Authority  Await response
Archaeology Section Recommends condition 
Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) Recommend condition 
Public Rights Of Way  Await response
National Grid Plant Protection   Await response
NY Highways & Transportation  Await response

Neighbour responses: Mr Robert Stinton, Mrs Nancy Foster, Mr Darryl Butler, 

SITE:

The site is located immediately to the north of an existing residential estate, the nearest properties being 
located on Dickens Road. It is an irregular shape bounded by the A64 to the north and by Rainbow Lane 
to the east. In the north-east corner of the site, there is a 'dog-leg' in the site boundary where the site 
adjoins the Rainbow Equine Veterinary Surgery. The site slopes from south to north, toward the A64 
trunk which is partly elevated above the ground level of the site.

The site has an area of approximately 3.4 hectares only and is visible on the edge of the settlement when 
travelling along the A64, although clear views are readily obtainable close to site.  More distant views 
are obtained from the minor Country highways and public rights of way located further to the north of 
the A64 by-pass.

The site has partial hedgerow boundaries alongside Rainbow Lane and along the boundary with the 
A64. The boundary on the rear of the properties on Dickens Road is currently marked by a variety of 
domestic screens and fences. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 9



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

PROPOSAL:

The application is submitted for the reserved matters approval for the erection of 18 three bedroom 
dwellings, 34 two bedroom dwellings and 4 one bedroom dwellings with associated landscaping and 
infrastructure. 16 of the two dwellings are proposed to be singles storey bungalows (8 detached and 8 
semi-detached). The dwellings are proposed to be constructed from predominantly red brick (with some 
contrasting panels) and interlocking concrete roof tiles. Precise details of the materials are the subject of 
planning conditions imposed on the outline planning permission.

The reserved matters application follows the earlier grant of outline planning permission Ref 
14/00429/MOUTE dated 24.3 2015 for the erection of circa fifty affordable residential dwellings on the 
site. Access to the site from Rainbow Lane was approve under the outline permission but all other 
matters were reserved.

The northern boundary of the site abuts the boundary of the A64 which is a major noise source. In order 
to address issues of the impacts of noise impacts on future residents a substantial bund and 4 metre high 
acoustic fence is proposed along this part of the site. 
Substantial amounts of landscaping are proposed both sides of the acoustic screen in order to soften its 
visual impact.

The application is accompanied by a supporting letter which sets out the broad design approach to this 
reserved matters application and this together with the submitted Soft 
Landscape and Management Plan is appended for Members information.

HISTORY: 

Outline Planning permission granted on 24.3.2015 for the erection of circa 50 affordable residential 
dwellings (Use Class C3) and associated works

POLICY: 

National Policy 
NPPF 2012
NPPG

Local Policy 
Policy SP1 General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New Housing 
Policy SP3 Affordable Housing 
Policy SP4 Type and Mix of New Housing 
Policy SP10 Physical Infrastructure 
Policy SP12 Heritage
Policy SP13 Landscapes 
Policy SP14 Biodiversity
Policy SP15 Green Infrastructure Networks
Policy SP16 Design
Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues 

APPRAISAL:
 
The principle of the residential development of this site for affordable housing has previously been 
established by the grant of the outline planning permission in 2015 for circa fifty dwellings. The 
proposed reserved matters scheme has evolved through discussions with the Council's Specialist People 
Officers in order to propose a mix of affordable housing that meets local needs including in particular 
the provision of sixteen single storey dwellings.

Page 99



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

The reserved matters application remains to be determined in the context of the detailed design 
approach taking account of the following detailed considerations,

Housing mix,
Landscape impact,
Detailed design and layout considerations,
Detailed access matters,
Noise and amenity considerations,

At the time of writing this report further information relating to both detailed on site highway matters 
and noise have been submitted and are being reviewed by officers  at NYCC Highways and the 
Councils own Specialist Environment Officers.

A final recommendation cannot be made at the present time. It is however anticipated that this will be 
published with the Late Papers for consideration prior to the meeting.

RECOMMENDATION: To Follow 

Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



PLANNING COMMITTEE

Item Number: 10
Application No: 17/01327/FUL
Parish: Terrington Parish Council
Appn. Type: Full Application
Applicant: Laidback Lucas Ltd
Proposal: External alterations to include erection of screen wall to east elevation 

together with erection of detached 1 bedroom managers dwelling following 
demolition of store building.

Location: Bay Horse Inn Main Street Terrington Malton North Yorkshire YO60 6PP

Registration Date: 2 November 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  28 December 2017 
Overall Expiry Date:  12 January 2018
Case Officer:  Emma Woodland Ext: 324

CONSULTATIONS:

Parish Council No objection subject to condition 
Environmental Health Officer Await response  
Highways North Yorkshire Recommend conditions 
Paul Jackson AONB Manager Support 

Neighbour responses: Mrs Janet Foster, Mrs Karen Eady, Mrs Anita Barber, Mr 
David Marsh, Keith Adkins & Jane Hanstock, Miss 
Kathryn Lazenby, Mr Angus Ferguson, Mrs C D 
Mackereth, Mr Ian Hughes, 

SITE:

The Bay Horse in Terrington is a Grade II listed building located within the Terrington conservation 
area. As such, Ryedale District Council has a statutory duty to ensure that proposals preserve the 
character of the listed building and preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the conservation 
area.

The building is located in the middle of the village on the south side of the street set back from the road 
by a small grassed verge and vehicular access. The building sits in a slightly elevated position and is a 
prominent property within the village. A car park and garden for the pub is located to the rear of the pub 
and is accessed off South Back Lane. Both the southern boundary and the northern boundary of the plot 
have housing on both sides as the character of Terrington is a developed Back Lane. The site is located 
within the identified adopted Development Limits. The pub has been closed since 2011 and it is in need 
of refurbishment.

PROPOSAL:

The proposal includes a complete refurbishment of the ground floor bar area, kitchen, toilets and dining 
areas. Proposals for the first floor re-configure the space to remove the existing manager's 
accommodation and propose 4 en-suite letting rooms and a private dining area.  A new, 1 bedroom 
manager's accommodation is proposed in the existing carpark on the site of an existing store building.  

RELAVENT HISTORY:

17/01043/LBC- Internal and external alterations to include formation of bar/kitchen at ground floor 
level, letting rooms at first floor level and erection of screen wall to east elevation together with 
demolition of store building. This application has been approved under Officers delegated powers.

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



PLANNING COMMITTEE

POLICY:

Terrington is identified as an 'other village' in the Ryedale Plan which states under Policy SP1 that 
development will be restricted to that which is necessary to support a sustainable, vibrant and health 
community. 

The policies under which this application is assessed are:

SP1- General Location of Development
SP2- Delivery and Distribution of New Housing
SP11- Community Facilities and Services
SP12- Heritage
SP13- Landscapes
SP16- Design
SP19- Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SP20- Generic Development Management Issues

APPRAISAL:

It is considered that the works to re-furbish the pub cause some minor harm to the special interest of the 
listed building in that there is some loss of internal historic fabric. The fabric however is generally plain 
masonry with no distinguishing architectural features and therefore the degree of harm can be assessed 
as at the low end of less than substantial harm. The removal and replacement of all the windows in the 
public house will cause harm to the special interest of the listed building and it has been agreed with the 
applicant's agent that this will not take place and a condition requiring a window-by-window survey 
should be submitted and agreed.  The proposed 800mm high screen wall is located on an area of 
existing flat roof and it is considered that this will not have a material adverse impact on the special 
interest of the listed building. According to paragraph 134 of the NPPF where the development proposal 
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, the harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including securing its optimum viable use. It is 
considered in this case that the beneficial re-use of the empty building continuing as a public house with 
letting accommodation will significantly outweigh the less than substantial harm identified to the listed 
building. 

The public house is considered to be a community facility and as such, the expansion and refurbishment 
of it is supported under Policy SP11. Proposals have been developed in consultation with 
Environmental Health Specialists to minimise noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties. In 
addition, it is considered that the proposed 800mm high screen wall to the eastern edge of the flat roof is 
acceptable and will not have a material adverse impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
property. It is noted that the larger part of the adjacent residential curtilage is located further to the south 
and east of this boundary. 

It is understood that the business model to ensure the future of the pub involves maximising the internal 
accommodation within the main building as letting rooms. The re-configured accommodation replaces 
a managers flat. Thus the proposed manager's accommodation is required in this application as a result 
of this displacement. A formal letter regarding the business model and justification for the additional 
manager's accommodation has been submitted and is appended to this report.

The manager's accommodation replaces an existing modern store building on the southern boundary of 
the car park. The existing store building measures c.8.5m long and c.5.8m wide.  It is considered that 
the store building makes no positive contribution to the character of the conservation area and that there 
is no objection to its removal. 

The proposed manager's accommodation is located to the rear of an existing bungalow that fronts onto 
South Back Lane. The construction of a new dwelling behind an existing dwelling is not a traditional 
part of the character of the conservation area and does cause some limited degree of harm to the 
character of the conservation area. The scale and traditional design of the building gives the appearance 

Page 144



PLANNING COMMITTEE

of an ancillary outbuilding. The presence of neighbouring buildings in a similar alignment is also 
considered to mitigate these harmful effects. It is considered that the harm can again be assessed as the 
low end of 'less than substantial' harm. As stated earlier according to paragraph 134 of the NPPF where 
the development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, the harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including 
securing its optimum viable use. It is considered in this case that the removal of the utilitarian store 
building and the facilitation of the beneficial re-use of the empty listed building within the conservation 
area continuing as a public house will clearly outweigh the less than substantial harm identified to the 
conservation area.

The proposed manager's accommodation is in the same location as the store building and measures 
c.10.8m long and c.5.4m wide with a ridge height of c.4.9m and an eaves height of c.2.5m. It is 
proposed to be constructed from stone with a pantile roof and painted timber doors and windows.  All 
windows and doors in the proposed accommodation are located in the eastern or northern elevation of 
the building which face into the existing carpark. 2 rooflights are located in the western roofslope to 
light a proposed bathroom and internal lobby area to the bedroom. The building as amended has been 
designed with the proportions, materials and detailing to reflect the local vernacular and it therefore 
complies with Policy SP16. 

The re-opening of The Bay Horse Inn is considered to be a benefit to the wider community. It is 
considered that the application will support a sustainable, vibrant and healthy rural economy and 
provide a community facility and therefore can be supported under Policy SP11. Whilst the new 
manager's accommodation does not strictly comply with Policy SP2 which relates to new housing, the 
requirement for on-site manager's accommodation is considered to be an important factor in the 
business model of the inn and in this case is supported by Officers in terms of the overall planning 
balance.

The manager's accommodation has been carefully designed to minimise impact on neighbouring 
properties and it is considered that the scale, proportions and detailing are appropriate to the character of 
the conservation area. The new accommodation will necessitate the removal of 3 small trees. These 
however are considered to be very poor specimens and they do not contribute to the character of the 
conservation area. Augmented boundary screening is proposed along the western edge of the carpark to 
mitigate the loss of the greenery. North Yorkshire County Highways recommend conditions regarding 
car parking which are included within this report. 

The proposal is located in the centre of the village in an existing built up area and will not detract from 
the natural beauty of the Howardian Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. There are no wider 
impacts on the AONB landscape and the application has been supported by the AONB manager. The 
proposal therefore complies with Policy SP13. The Parish Council have no objections to the manager's 
accommodation but would wish to see it tied to the pub - which is recommended as a condition included 
within this report.  

Other Matters Including Consultation Responses

A number of neighbours have objected to the application, specifically the manager's accommodation, 
on the grounds that it will have an adverse impact on their amenity. The two neighbours immediately 
adjacent to the proposed manager's accommodation are located c. 7.5m to the south with a garage block 
in between and c. 2m to the west on rising ground with a boundary/retaining wall separating them. 
Officers are of the opinion that the general proposed mass and position of the building is similar to that 
of the existing store. The lawful use of the existing storage building may have had some amenity impact 
and its demolition and replacement and any resulting additional material impact is considered by 
officers to be minimal.  In addition, the adjacent neighbours' garage to the south will act as a significant 
screen to the development. The eastern elevation of the neighbouring building to the west is not a 
principle elevation and is a side gable with few windows in an elevated position. It is considered that the 
small size of the proposed accommodation as a 1 bedroom unit and the sensitive design of the 
accommodation with respect to overlooking windows will satisfactorily mitigate these concerns. It is 
considered that the accommodation would not prejudice the continued operation of neighbouring land 
uses which are also residential. It is also considered that the proposed manager's accommodation will 

Page 145



PLANNING COMMITTEE

not have a material adverse impact on the amenity of present or future occupants, the users or occupants 
of neighbouring land and buildings or the wider community by virtue of its design, use, location and 
proximity to neighbouring land uses. It is recommended however that the use of the manager's 
accommodation is tied by condition to the use of the public house. 

This application has been carefully considered by Officers and is considered to comply with Policies 
SP1, 11, 12, 13, 16, 19 and 20.

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before .

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

16/1514 DWG 01 Rev A, 16/1514 DWG 04 Rev B, 16/1514 DWG 07, 16/1514 DWG 05 Rev 
C, 16/1514 DWG 08, 16/1514 DWG 06  

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 Within 12 months of the commencement of the development hereby permitted, or such longer 
period as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the proposed boundary 
screening shall be planted on the eastern and western carpark boundary of the site in 
accordance with details to be submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the enjoyment by the 
neighbouring occupiers of their properties or the appearance of the locality.

4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Town & Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or 
amending that Order) development of the following classes shall not be undertaken other than 
as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority following a specific 
application in that respect:

Class A: Enlargement, improvement or alteration of a dwellinghouse

Class B: Roof alteration to enlarge a dwellinghouse

Class C: Any other alteration to the roof of a dwellinghouse

Class D: Erection or construction of a domestic external porch

Class E: Provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of any building or enclosure, 
swimming or other pool required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse 
or the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of such a building or enclosure

Class G: The erection or provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of a container for 
the storage of oil for domestic heating

Glass H: Installation, alteration or replacement of a satellite antenna on a dwellinghouse or 
within its curtilage.

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the areas is not prejudiced by the introduction of 
unacceptable materials and/or structure(s).

Page 146



PLANNING COMMITTEE

5 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, or such longer period as may be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, details and samples of the materials to be 
used on the exterior of the building including rainwater goods the subject of this permission 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: For the preservation of the conservation area.

6 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, the developer shall 
construct on site for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority, a one metre square 
free standing panel of the external walling to be used in the construction of building. The 
panel so constructed shall be retained only until the development has been completed.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to satisfy the requirements of Policy 
SP20 of the Ryedale Plan, the Local Plan Strategy.

7 Prior to the commencement of the development, details of all windows, and doors including 
cross sections and means of opening, depth of reveal and external finish shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To preserve the character of the conservation area.

8 The 1 bedroom manager's dwelling hereby permitted shall be used only insofar as it forms an 
annexe/extension to the property currently known as The Bay Horse Inn, and shall at no time 
be occupied as a separate or self-contained dwelling unit or sold or leased separately from the 
property currently known as The Bay Horse Inn.

Reason: The site is not considered to be large enough to accommodate an additional dwelling.

9 Notwithstanding the provision of any Town and Country Planning General Permitted or 
Special Development Order for the time being in force, the areas shown on drawing 16/1514 
08 for parking spaces, turning areas and access shall be kept available for their intended 
purpose at all times.

Reason: In accordance with Policy SP20 and to ensure these areas are kept available for their 
intended use in the interests of highway safety and general amenity of the development.

Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 11
Application No: 17/01450/FUL
Parish: Kirkbymoorside Town Council
Appn. Type: Full Application
Applicant: Thomas Crown Associates
Proposal: Erection of 6no. three bedroom terraced dwellings along with parking areas 

and shared amenity space
Location: North Yorkshire Highways Depot  Manor Vale Lane Kirkbymoorside 

YO62 6EG

Registration Date:  30 November 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  25 January 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  15 March 2018
Case Officer:  Alan Hunter Ext: Ext 276

CONSULTATIONS:

Environmental Health Officer  Await response 
Housing Services Comments 
Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning Recommend conditions 
Sustainable Places Team (Environment-Agency Yorkshire Area) Recommendations made 
Historic England No comments to offer
Countryside Officer Comments and recommendations 
Flood Risk Recommend conditions 
Archaeology Section No objection 
Public Rights Of Way Informative 
Parish Council Support with some concerns and comments 
Highways North Yorkshire Points require addressing and conditions 
North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service No objections 
Flood Risk Further comments 
Environmental Health Officer Recommend conditions 
Sustainable Places Team (Environment-Agency Yorkshire Area) No further comments 
Lead Local Flood Authority Recommend further analysis 
Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning  Await response
Vale Of Pickering Internal Drainage Boards  Await response
Environmental Health Officer Noise response - concerns 
Parish Council Comments made but support in principle 

Neighbour responses: Liz And Paul Banks, Mr Keith Stevenson, Mr John 
Barrett, Mr Michael Gray, Ms Helen Beaumont, , Mr 
Brian Bancroft, David And Judith Turnball, Miss Polly A 
Baldwin, Mrs Elizabeth Banks, Mr Paul Birchall, 
Ravenswick Estate, Kirkbymoreside Town Brass Band 
(Mr John Wright), Mrs Ann Gray, 

SITE:

This site is located towards the northern end of Kirkbymoorside, and to the north of Manor Vale Lane.  
Manor Vale Lane runs through the application site and becomes a single track road which provides 
vehicular access to the Kirkbymoorside Golf Club (located further north of the application site).

The application site was previously used as a Highway Depot for North Yorkshire County Council.  
The site also comprises a former quarry.  Various buildings and structures occupy the eastern part of the 
site which lies beneath a cliff face.  These buildings consist of offices, stores and garaging, whilst to the 

Page 164

Agenda Item 11



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

north of the buildings is a hard-surfaced area.  At present that site is derelict, and with the exception of 
the roadway, it has security fencing around its inner sides.

To the west of the application site, are two community halls, one of which is used as a Scout Hut and the 
second of which is a Band Hall. The Band Hall has been granted planning permission to extend onto the 
site occupied by the Scout Hut to create a Concert Hall.

Residential development is located on top of the cliff to the western and eastern sides of the application 
site.  To the south, there are dwellings of varying styles located on Manor Vale Lane.  These properties 
comprise the approach to the site from the town.

Part of the site lies immediately within the development limit for the town but to the north of the 
Kirkbymoorside Conservation Area.  The land immediately to the north is within the Area of High 
Landscape Value (Fringe of the North York Moors), and contains a designated Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation, along with Ancient Woodland. A small area of the site is located outside of the 
development limits of the Town, this area is proposed to be used as communal garden area.

An area to the north-east and immediately adjacent but outside the application site is designated as an 
Scheduled Ancient Monument (Neville Castle)  

PROPOSAL:

The proposal is a Full application for 6no. 3 bed dwellings, arranged as a terrace dwellings. All of the 
dwellings are in the form of frontage development which runs along the eastern side of the roadway, 
with a central access to the Golf Club running through the application site. The communal area of 
garden is to be located to the northern side of the proposed dwellings, and measures approximately 10m 
by 12m.

The building comprising the 6no. terraced dwellings in total will measure 41.2m in width and 7.8m in 
depth, the proposed dwellings measure 4.5m to the eaves and 8m to the ridge height. The agent has 
confirmed the dwellings are proposed to be constructed from 100mm bed random coursed stone under a 
clay pantile roof with timber windows and doors.  Parking areas are proposed to the south and north of 
the proposed dwellings with permeable paving.

The application is accompanied by the following reports:

 Planning Statement;
 Landscape and Visual Appraisal;
 Noise Assessment; 
 Tree Survey;
 Asbestos Demolition Survey Report;
 Archaeology assessment;
 Contaminated Land Report - Phase 2 report;
 Drainage details;
 Flood Risk Assessment;
 Design & Access Statement; and 
 Ecology surveys.  

These reports are able to be viewed on the Council's website.

HISTORY:

Recent planning history includes:

2017: Planning application refused for the erection of 6 dwellings. Appeal lodged and due to be 
determined in April by the Planning Inspectorate. The agent has recently confirmed that this appeal has 
been withdrawn, confirmed from PINS is awaited.

Page 165



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

2015: Planning application for residential development withdrawn.

2014: Planning application for B1 and B8 use- dismissed on appeal.

2014: Change of use of office to a dwelling refused - dismissed on appeal.

2014: Two planning applications for residential development withdrawn.

2013: Demolition Consent granted to demolish the redundant buildings on the site.

2008: Planning permission refused for residential development - dismissed on appeal.  (NOTE: This 
was a larger site than is currently proposed)

POLICY:

National Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 (NPPG)

Local Plan Strategy

Policy SP1 - General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy
Policy SP2 - Delivery and Distribution of New Housing
Policy SP3 - Affordable Housing
Policy SP4 - Type and Mix of New Housing
Policy SP11 - Community Facilities and Services
Policy SP12 - Heritage
Policy SP13 - Landscapes
Policy SP14 - Biodiversity
Policy SP16 - Design
Policy SP17 - Managing Air Quality, Land and Water Resources
Policy SP19 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy SP20 - Generic Development Management Issues
Policy SP22 - Planning Obligations, Developer Contributions and the Community Infrastructure Levy

APPRAISAL:

The main considerations in relation to this application are:-

 The principle of the proposed residential development;
 Flood Risk;
 The siting, scale and design of the proposed scheme;
 Whether the proposed dwellings will have a satisfactory level of residential amenity; 
 The impact of the proposed development upon surrounding properties;
 Heritage impacts;
 Drainage;
 Archaeology;
 Highway safety;
 Affordable Housing;
 Contaminated land and ground stability;
 Ecology and the impact of the proposal upon protected species and the Manor Vale SINC;
 Tree and Landscape Impact;
 Other Issues; and
 CIL.

Page 166



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

A previous application for 6 dwellings, comprising a pair of 3 terraced dwellings, was refused planning 
permission last year, by Planning Committee. The reasons for refusal related to absence of a flood risk 
Sequential Test and possibility of increased flood risk to other properties; the impact of the 
development upon the Band Hall; and the limited amenity for the occupiers of the dwellings as a 
consequence of the close proximity of the development to the outer sides of the quarry and the Band 
Hall. This current planning application has been submitted alongside an appeal against the previous 
refusal.

This application was been submitted with new information; a new Noise Assessment; a Drainage Site 
Plan; Surface Water Drainage Calculations; Updated Flood Risk Assessment and Updated Design and 
Access Statement. Revised Plans have also been submitted showing a single building block comprising 
6 terraced dwellings. 

The same new information was also been submitted with the appeal. The Local Planning Authority has 
objected to the introduction of the new information with the planning appeal, as it has not been the 
subject of consultation with interested parties and could fetter the judgement of the Local Planning 
Authority in the first instance to determine this planning application.  The Planning Inspectorate has 
since confirmed that the appeal is to be heard only against the scheme as originally refused by Planning 
Committee, the deadline has also been extended for the Appeal Statements until 20 March 2018, to 
enable a decision by Planning Committee on 13 March 2018. The applicant has informed the LPA that 
the appeal has now been withdrawn, confirmation from PINS is awaited.

Following discussions with the agent, the current planning application has been further amended; to be 
a FULL application; an additional area of communal amenity space for the 6 dwellings has been 
proposed to the northern side of the dwellings, a revised internal layout is proposed with all habitable 
rooms on the rear elevation; additional drainage information; a schedule of external materials; and a 
Sequential Test.  The application has been re-consulted upon and the consultation deadline is 15 March 
2018. Members will appreciate this is 2 days after the Committee date and any decision made by 
Committee will be subject to any further issues raised before the expiry of  the consultation period.

The principle of the proposed development

The proposed 6 no. dwellings are located within the development limits of Kirkbymoorside. In 
accordance with Policy SP2 of the Local Plan Strategy, it is considered that the development of the 
application site within development limits can be regarded as 'infill' development and acceptable in 
principle.

Flood risk

The site is located within Flood Zone 1, in terms of its risk of flooding from coastal and river flooding. 
The site was originally within Flood Zone 3 of the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, however that was 
subsequently amended to Flood Zone 1, being the lowest risk of Flooding. That was because surface 
water flooding and coastal and river flooding were separated.  A separate Surface Water Flood Map 
was developed and the advice from the Environment Agency was to consider all the maps and 
designated areas together. The Environment Agency Surface Water Flood Map identifies the 
application site within an area at high risk of flooding from surface water. 

It is understood the surface water flows from higher land to the north, and at times of heavy rainfall 
flows through the application site and pools to the south of the application site. Photographs and videos 
of a serious flood event involving the flooding of the dwelling immediately to the south have been 
submitted in response to an earlier application for residential development on this site previously. There 
is strong concern locally regarding the flooding of this area. The agent has submitted photographs of the 
previous flood event, and these are appended to this report for Members information.

Para. 101 of NPPF states:

Page 167



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

'The aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of 
flooding. Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are reasonably available sites 
appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of flooding. The Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment will provide the basis for applying this test. A sequential approach should be 
used in areas known to be at risk from any form of flooding.'

and para. 103 of NPPF states:

'When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere and only consider development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, 
informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment following the Sequential Test, and if required the 
Exception Test, it can be demonstrated that:
- within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk unless there 
are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; and
- development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant, including safe access and escape routes 
where required, and that any residual risk can be safely managed, including by emergency planning; 
and it gives priority to the use of sustainable drainage systems.'

Para. 101 and para. 103 of NPPF and Policy SP17 of the Local Plan do not exclude surface water flood 
risk from the sequential test. In this case, the site does flood and surface water comes from the higher 
land to the north down through the steps at Manor Vale Wood (eastern side) and across the application 
site. The water is then known to pool to the south of the site in Manor Vale.  A map provided to the 
Local Planning Authority in 2011 annotated the whole site as flooding at that time. The photographs 
annotated to this report clearly show the access road that runs through the application site to flood. 
There has also been a Court decision that confirms even where part of the site is at risk of flooding the 
entire proposal has to be sequentially tested.

After initially disputing that it is required, the agent has submitted a Sequential Test. The Test is 
whether the development, in this case 6 terraced dwellings can be located on any other sites in 
Kirkbymoorside that are at a lesser risk of flooding. NPPG requires a pragmatic approach to this test 
and to take account of the type of development proposed. The relatively high density and urban form of 
development is considered to be more appropriate in a built- up area as opposed to a Greenfield 
location. The Sequential Test has, however, analysed sites in an around Kirkbymoorside to establish if 
there are any suitable and available sites for this type of development. The Test has been discussed in 
detail internally with colleagues working on the Sites Document. It is considered that the Sequential 
Test has been met and there are no other site's available or suitable for this type of development 
proposal. 

With the Sequential Test met, it is now appropriate to consider the Exception Test for this proposed use. 
Turning to the first part of the Exception Test as outlined above in Para 103 of NPPF, it is noted that the 
buildings on site are in a poor state of repair and this is a brownfield site that would benefit from being 
developed. Officer's regularly received complaints about the condition and appearance of this site. The 
opportunity to provide an appropriate redevelopment of this Brownfield site that is located in a 
sustainable location is considered to be a significant material planning consideration.

Regarding the second stage of the Exception Test, the mitigation proposed by the FRA is to raise 
finished floor levels above current levels by 0.3m. Evacuation is proposed towards the steps to the north 
through Manor Vale Wood. The means of escape is not considered appropriate given that the steps are a 
source of flowing surface water from higher land. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has been re-
consulted and pursuant to the Exception Test they have been asked, in addition to surface water 
drainage, to comment on:

 Whether the levels of the development are acceptable or need to be raised to take account of 
climate change and future events?

 What means or escape should be provided and to comment on the proposed use of the steps;
 Whether the development of the site would funnel the water so it increased flood risk to other  

Page 168



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

properties ; 
 If any further mitigation is required to make the development flood resilient?

The LLFA has confirmed that the FRA does not contain sufficient information about exceedance flows, 
risk to other properties to the south, whether the surface water drainage system takes account of and 
flood risk mitigation. The agent has been advised of this. Additional information has been received on 
these points and the further views of the LLFA are awaited. At present, it is not considered possible to 
confirm the second part of the Exception Test is met. Without confirmation of the above points, the 
Exception Test cannot be met. Members will be updated when the views of the LLFA are known either 
in the late pages of at the meeting.

The siting, scale and design and materials of the proposed development

The 2008 application that was dismissed on Appeal, proposed residential development along the eastern 
part of the site and opposite the Band Hall.  The Inspector in 2008 stated:

'The appellant argues that the layout would 'break up' the development although in my view its 
suburban estate style layout would appear alien in its disused quarry setting, neither reflecting its 
industrial heritage nor enhancing its landscape setting.'

'.. I conclude that the proposal would be harmful to the character and appearance of the site, including 
both parts within Kirkbymoorside's defined development limits and parts of it within Kirkbymoorside's 
development limits and the parts within the AHLV'

Policy SP16 of the adopted Local Plan Strategy requires:

'Development proposals will be expected to create high quality durable places that are accessible, well 
integrated with their surroundings and which:

 Reinforce local distinctiveness
 Provide a well-connected public realm which is accessible and usable by all, safe and easily 

navigated
 Protect amenity and promote well-being. To reinforce local distinctiveness, the location, 

siting, form, layout, scale and detailed design of new development should respect the context 
provided by its surroundings including:

 Topography and landform that shape the form and structure of settlements in the landscape
 The structure of towns and villages formed by street patterns, routes, public spaces, rivers 

and becks. The medieval street patterns and historic cores of Malton, Pickering, 
Kirkbymoorside and Helmsley are of particular significance and medieval two row villages 
with back lanes are typical in Ryedale

 The grain of the settlements, influenced by street blocks, plot sizes, the orientation of 
buildings, boundaries, spaces between buildings and the density, size and scale of buildings

 The character and appearance of open space and green spaces including existing Visually 
Important Undeveloped Areas (VIUAs) or further VIUAs which may be designated in the 
Local Plan Sites Document or in a Neighbourhood Plan. Development proposals on land 
designated as a VIUA will only be permitted where the benefits of the development proposed 
significantly outweigh the loss or damage to the character of the settlement

 Views, vistas and skylines that are provided and framed by the above and/or influenced by the 
position of key historic or landmark buildings and structures

 The type, texture and colour of materials, quality and type of building techniques and 
elements of architectural detail'

In this case, 6 terraced properties are proposed, with parking areas to the northern and southern sides. 
The scheme is now a FULL application and includes elevations to be considered. The proposed 
dwelling are designed as 2 storey properties with 2 no. dormer windows on the front of each property 
and accommodation in the loft areas. There is some concern at the number of dormer windows, and 
consequent number of down pipes required on the front elevation. However, this form of development 

Page 169



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

is considered to be acceptable in this location and to respect the traditional form of development in the 
wider area. It is considered that this form of development is more appropriate than detached or suburban 
type housing. 

On the whole it is not considered that the design and appearance of the development would warrant a 
recommendation of refusal.  As the site relates to 6 dwellings, there is considered to be sufficient views 
retained elsewhere of the outer valley sides. It is considered, on balance, that the development is 
acceptable and to meet the requirement of Policy SP16 and Policy SP20 of the Local Plan Strategy.

Whether the proposed development will have a satisfactory level of residential amenity

Policy SP20 of the Local Plan Strategy states:

'New development will not have a material adverse impact on the amenity of present or future 
occupants, the users or occupants of neighbouring land and buildings or the wider community by virtue 
of its design, use, location and proximity to neighbouring land uses. Impacts on amenity can include, 
for example, noise, dust, odour, light flicker, loss of privacy or natural daylight or be an overbearing 
presence.

Developers will be expected to apply the highest standards outlined in the World Health Organisation, 
British Standards and wider international and national standards relating to noise'

The following issues are considered to be particularly relevant in this case:

 The potential for noise and disturbance from the adjacent Band Hall

 The position of the cliff faces on the western and eastern sides measuring up to 10m above the 
site level proposed for the houses

(i) Noise and the Band Hall implications

Kirkbymoorside Band Hall is located opposite the site, together with an existing Scout Hut. Planning 
permission (15/00644/FUL) was granted last year for an extension of the band hall onto the site of the 
Scout Hut to create a Concert Hall. The Band Hall is an important community and recreational facility 
that is afforded protection within the Local Plan Strategy.

Policy SP11 of the Local Plan Strategy states:

'Existing local retail, community, cultural, leisure and recreational services and facilities that 
contribute to the vitality of the towns and villages and the well-being of local communities will be 
protected from loss/redevelopment unless it can be demonstrated that:

-there is no longer a need for the facility or suitable and accessible alternatives exist, or
-that it is no longer economically viable to provide the facility, or
-Proposals involving replacement facilities provide an equivalent or greater benefit to the community 
and can be delivered with minimum disruption to provision'

There is considered to be a significant an issue with the co-existence of housing and the Band Hall. 
Particularly the degree of noise that future occupiers will be subject to, and the likelihood that this will 
create complaints about the operations of the Band Hall. As noted above in Policy SP20, the Local 
Planning Authority requires the highest standards in relation to noise for new residential developments. 

On the earlier Appeal Decision, the Inspector stated:

'The appellant argues that the affected houses could be designed with measures to protect their 
occupants from the noise, although I am not persuaded that this is practical: even if double or triple 
glazing in the houses were to be effective in blocking out the music, the residents would be unable to 

Page 170



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

have their windows open in warm weather and, in any case, they would not be able to enjoy their 
gardens on summer evenings without the disturbance of the band.'

A new Noise Assessment has been submitted with this application that has sought to engage with the 
Band Hall representatives. The Noise Assessment has demonstrated that the rear elevations of the 
proposed dwelling even with windows open could meet the relevant noise standards that the Council 
applies. The scheme has been re-designed with all habitable rooms located on the rear elevations. The 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has been consulted and has stated:

'I still have concerns with regard to noise disturbance to these dwellings. Whilst I acknowledge the 
improved internal layout in relation to noise disturbance from the band room during band practice, 
section 1:3 of the "YES" noise assessment executive summary states:

"If windows to both hall and residential properties were open whilst band practice is taking place the 
noise levels in the proposed dwellings would not be acceptable and would result in a significant adverse 
effect". 

This development, therefore does not meet the highest standards required by Ryedale District Council 
that internal noise levels should be in line with the World Health Organisation (WHO) guidelines with 
partially open windows. The occupants will have no jurisdiction over whether the band room will have 
their windows open or closed and therefore cannot control the levels from the band room itself.

The plans show on the first floor elevation a study,  I have reservations that  should this be used as a 
fourth bedroom then noise levels would result in a significant adverse effect. I still have concerns to the 
outside courtyard area, this could not be used as an amenity to the dwelling as noise levels to this area 
would be totally unacceptable.'

There has also been a direct objection from the Band Hall representatives and from third party objectors 
regarding the potential implications for the Band Hall. There is concern that the proposal could create 
complaints regarding nuisance which could curtail the Band's Operations. The objections raised 
consider the Noise Assessment to be much better than the previous Assessment but consider it to be 
partially inadequate. The Band Hall representatives are also keen to emphasise that they practice 
outside and with their doors open during warmer months. The Band Hall is 14.5m at its closest the 
proposed dwellings.

The applicant's Noise consultant has responded with the following:

'In the YES Consultancy's noise report (page 23) we advise that when windows to the band hall are 
opened, then sound levels inside the rooms to the front facades of the property are predicted to increase 
such that windows to the rooms would need to be closed in order to ensure compliance with the design 
standards of BS8233 and the WHO guidelines, with suitable acoustically treated ventilation provided.  
Also if band hall windows were closed then internal levels in the proposed properties would be well 
below the World Health Organisation and BS8233:2014 internal criteria levels. 

As a result I do not think it would be necessary for any mitigation to be provided in terms of sound 
insulation of the band hall building but it may be worth considering provision of mechanical 
ventilation/air conditioning for the band hall such that windows to the hall could remain closed and 
thus reduce noise breakout.

Within the objection from the brass band they make a number expressions of concern regarding 
numbers of band practices, times of practices, loudness of band practices (with senior bands considered 
to be louder). In addition they state that noise from the band would increase when band practice takes 
place outside during the summer months, this was not something which was mentioned during my long 
discussions with the band.'

Again, in my view, the provision of any artificial ventilation/air conditioning would help control these 
aspects too. Obviously noise levels from outside practice wouldn't be affected by any changes to the 
building but I am not 100% sure that this would be classified as reasonable if they have a perfectly 

Page 171



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

adequate indoor space for practicing.

Following this, the agent has responded to state their intention to make an offer on behalf of the 
applicant to the Band Hall representatives to provide an air conditioning unit and to ensure the windows 
on their eastern elevation cannot be opened. The aim is to provide a suitable environment for the Brass 
band and reduce their need to open the windows for ventilation. Thereby reducing the potential impact 
of the occupiers of the proposed development. This is an issue between the Band Hall and the 
agent/applicant. If agreed between the parties and a Unilateral Undertaking to that effect is provided to 
the Council, it can be considered alongside the above assessment on noise and amenity impacts. 
However, Officers have reservations about whether this would be acceptable to the Band Hall and be 
solution to the current issues. Such a solution requires the agreement of the Band Hall representatives 
along with the landowner, which will need to be a party to the agreement.

Regarding the comments of the Environmental Health Officer's assessment, it is correct that the study 
could be used as a bedroom and that the Local Planning Authority could not control this aspect.  In 
relation to the Environmental Health Officer's comments in respect to the proposed Outdoor communal 
amenity area to the north of the dwellings. The agent considers acoustic fencing around this area to be 
unsightly and the aim was that this was an open area. Clearly these two areas of concern could be 
directly affected by any agreement from the applicant to the Band Hall representatives regarding 
ventilation and closed windows. As it stands Officers have significant concerns about residential 
amenity impacts for the occupiers of the proposed dwellings and the impact upon the Band Hall. 
Without knowing the outcome of the discussions with the Band Hall representatives it is not possible 
for Officers to reach a conclusion on these issues.

(ii)Proximity to the eastern outer side

In terms of the proximity to the outer sides of the valley. The proposed dwellings have limited rear 
gardens and they are in close proximity to the outer cliff sides. Officers maintain concern that this 
arrangement will not provide a satisfactory level of amenity for the proposed occupiers. The cliff side 
has the potential to reduce daylight and sun light and creating an over-dominating sense of enclosure to 
the rear of the proposed properties. 

It is noted that the Inspector in the earlier decision stated the following:

'The majority of the dwellings would be located in close proximity to the site's east quarry face. Given 
the height of the cliff and the dense line of trees on top of it, I envisage that the outlook from, and light 
in, the rear facing rooms of most of the properties would be so restricted as to provide unacceptable 
living conditions for the residents of the dwellings. I appreciate that the trees on the cliff top are 
deciduous, although their branches appear to be dense and I envisage that, together with the cliff face 
itself, they would restrict light to the properties even when not in leaf. I recognise that the positioning of 
windows does not form part of this outline application. However, given the shape of the properties and 
the presence of adjacent dwellings/garages to the side elevations of most of the houses (as shown on the 
layout plan), it appears to me that, despite them facing south west, it would not be possible to design the 
majority of the proposed properties such that all their main rooms would receive adequate light and 
provide a satisfactory outlook.' 

It appears the very same issues remain with the current scheme to those previously addressed by the 
Inspector. In this case, the application is now a FULL application with elevations and window positions. 
Furthermore, the majority of the trees on the upper sides to the east have now been removed. This will 
afford more light to the rear elevations of the proposed dwellings than when the Inspector assessed the 
earlier Outline scheme. The application site is also much reduced to that considered by the Inspector 
previously. It is considered that there will not be a particularly good outlook from these properties. In 
mitigation, the agent has amended the layout pan to show a shared amenity area to the north of the 
dwellings (as discussed above), thereby increasing the level of general amenity space available to the 6 
properties.  Officers still have reservations about this arrangement so close to the eastern side of the 
former quarry.

Page 172



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

The impact of the proposed development upon the amenity of the adjoining neighbours

The proposed residential properties themselves are not considered likely to be prejudicial to the 
amenities of surrounding properties, by virtue of the separation distances to those properties on Manor 
Vale and by virtue of the levels changes to those properties on higher land to the eastern and western 
sides of the site.

Impact upon the setting of Heritage assets

Kirkbymoorside Conservation Area boundary lies to the south of the application site. The Scheduled 
Ancient Monument of the former Neville Castle is to the north eastern side. There are also 7 grade 2 
listed buildings in the locality. High Hall and Low Hall to the eastern and south eastern side (and 
accessed via Castlegate) and No. 10,12,14,18, and 20 Dale End. S66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. S72 of the Act also requires the Local Planning Authority has special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation 
Areas. In addition Policy SP12 of the Local Plan Strategy also seeks to protect the significance of 
heritage assets.

There is not considered to be an adverse effect upon the setting of these nearby listed buildings given 
the levels and separation distances. The character and appearance of the Conservation Area and views 
from the Conservation Area looking north along the road are considered to be preserved.

Heritage England do not object to the setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monument. It is not considered 
that the proposed development will have an adverse effect upon the setting of the Scheduled Ancient 
Monument given the site's location on substantially lower ground. It is therefore considered that the 
Local Planning Authority has fulfilled its obligations in relation to the aforementioned legislation and 
Policy SP12 of the Local Plan Strategy.

Drainage

 Foul water is proposed to be drained via the mains sewer. Yorkshire Water has no objection in principle 
to this method of drainage.

Surface water drainage is proposed to be drained via soakaways. The LLFA has requested additional 
information on percolation tests and surface water drainage details. This information has recently been 
received and their further views are awaited. At this stage, it is not possible to conclude on whether this 
method of draining the site is acceptable. Members will be updating when the views of the LLFA are 
received. 

Archaeology 

NYCC Heritage has raised no objection to the proposal.

Highway safety

It is noted that the adopted public highway does not currently extend through the application site, the 
proposal is to extend the adoptable highway further north into the application site. The Highway 
Authority has considered the application and responded with the following comments:

'The supporting Design and Access Statement refers to the section of road within the application site 
becoming an adopted highway. The existing public highway limit is at the southern end of the site, and 
the extension proposed to serve new residential development would be in line with the county council 
policy whereby six or more new dwellings should be accessed off a road laid out and constructed to a 
standard such that its adoption as public-maintained highway could occur.

Given the previous use of the site, no highway authority objections are raised in principle.

Page 173



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

However, referring to the proposed plans, the following will need to be addressed as part of the 
submission of plans for such adoption:

a) The proposed turning head should be included as part of the adoptable area, and be positively-
drained rather than constructed in permeable paving.

b) The upgraded road should be engineered for a 20mph design speed, using appropriate control 
measures in agreed locations.

c) The submitted site drainage survey has identified the existing road having two gullies + connections 
going into the existing system which connects into a public combined sewer further down Manor vale 
Lane.

As part of the adoption arrangements, the highway drainage will need to be separated from the surface 
water drainage proposed for the new dwellings. There should also be a requirement to install an 
underground storage and attenuation structure within the blue land (under the applicants' control) to 
the north which could help alleviate the flood flows that have been shown to use the existing road as an 
overland flow route from higher ground, and thereby reduce the likelihood and/or intensity of such 
flows running onto the adoptable road, together with a throttle discharge into the new surface water 
system.

It is presumed that all the existing site drainage will be abandoned and replaced with separate new 
dwelling foul and surface water drainage subject to incorporating any existing connection from third 
party premises, together with a new highway drainage system as mentioned above.'

Consequently the Highway Authority recommend that planning conditions be imposed to address the 
above issues. The conditions recommended cover details of the layout of the roadway and footway; 
construction of roads and footways prior to occupation; discharge of surface water; pedestrian visibility 
splays; approval for works in the highway; completion of works in the highway before occupation; 
details and provision of an access turning and parking area; and the provision of electric charging points 
for each dwelling. 

In reaching this judgement the Highway Authority has considered the capacity of the road network to 
accommodate the additional traffic safely, and the required layout for adoption purposes. In the 
circumstances there are considered to be no grounds to object to the application in terms of highway 
safety.  If the application were to be considered favourably, the applicants would need to ensure the 
proposed drainage works were re-located or agreement is reached for them to be located under the 
adopted highway. The requirement for the electric charging point is not supported by a Local Plan 
Policy requirement and the LPA has not sought such charging points from this scale of development 
previously. Neither is the site in a location with known Air Quality problems. It is therefore not 
considered to be reasonable or necessary to impose a condition in respect of the charging points. If 
approved, an informative could be added.

Affordable Housing

On sites for between 6-10 dwellings in locations such as Kirkbymoorside, the Planning Committee 
agreed at its July 2016 meeting, a financial contribution should be provided in lieu of affordable 
housing provision. This followed a Court case and change to National Planning Policy. In accordance 
with National Policy Guidance, there should also be a credit for any vacant buildings on the site. The 
Council's Rural Housing Enabler has calculated the contribution on this site to be £37k. If this 
application were to be considered favourably, this contribution will need to be delivered via a S106 
agreement.

Contamination and ground stability issues

The Council's Environment Specialist has stated:

Page 174



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

'The 'GEO Environmental Engineering, Revised Phase 2: Ground Investigation Report 2016', 
referenced 2013-512, details results of contamination testing that reveal elevated levels of organic 
contamination on site that poses a potential significant risk to the proposed end users.  The report also 
details visual/olfactory evidence of fuel type contamination within the materials on site, the presence of 
which has been analytically confirmed in shallow soils.

Elevated levels of leachate contamination have also been identified that are considered as posing a 
potential future risk to controlled waters and the environment.

For the above reasons the report recommends that further risk assessment (Detailed Quantitative Risk 
Assessment - DQRA), remediation or protection measures are required.  Consideration should be given 
to revealing 'hotspots' of contamination not yet identified.'

The submitted reports identify significant ground contamination on the site, accordingly the 
Environmental Health Specialist recommends detailed planning conditions in regard to the Phase 2 
Contaminated Land Report on this site and requires further detailed assessment of potential 
contaminants on the site, if this were to be considered favourably. 

There are understood to be caves under or near to the site, and there are some reservations about ground 
stability for the construction of the proposed dwellings. However, the Local Planning Authority does 
not have any evidence with regard to ground stability issues on the site and there is no evidence to 
substantiate this as a reason for refusal. If the application is approved, a 'grampian' style pre-
commencement condition could be required for the applicant to demonstrate the ground is stable and 
capable of accommodating the proposed development. In view of the above objections, however, this 
has not been requested from the applicant prior to the determination of this application. Moreover, if 
approved, the safe construction of the development in relation to ground conditions will be addressed in 
accordance with Building Regulations.

Ecology and the impact of the proposed development upon protected species and Manor Vale SINC

Ecological and Protected Species surveys have been undertaken. They have confirmed that there would 
not be a material adverse effect upon Manor Vale Woodland (SINC) to the north. Mitigation 
recommendations are contained within the Surveys.

In response to this application, the Council's Specialist has stated:

 'The proposed layout would not interfere with the protected species and habitats detected within the 
site. Provided the method statement in section 10 is followed. A badger licence may be required should 
the caving club license not be granted.'

In principle there are considered to be no ecological/wildlife objections to the proposed development.

Trees and Landscape impact

It is noted that trees have been felled on the outer sides of the site. These trees were not protected. The 
Tree and Landscape Officer had been consulted on the previous application and no objections have 
been raised.  The Tree and Landscape Officer stated the following in relation to the previous planning 
application:

'These trees were not within the Kirkbymoorside Conservation Area boundary or the subject of a Tree 
Preservation Order. However, I understand that the Forestry Commission are investigating the felling 
to determine whether or not a felling license would have been required. Although the trees have been 
severed close to ground level their root systems have been retained which will promote extensive re-
growth in the coming year, and contrary to belief by some objectors to the development the felling of the 
trees should not compromise the stability of the bank as the roots are retained.

Page 175



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Should this application be approved I would recommend a condition requesting the submission of a 
woodland management plan for the regeneration of the woodland along the eastern boundary of the 
site'.'

It is understood that a Felling Licence was issued. There are therefore, considered to be no objections 
subject to planning conditions to the proposal, in terms of trees and landscaping on the site.

Given the surrounding typography and the site's location within the Town's development limits there is 
considered to be no adverse effect upon the surrounding landscape. The proposal is considered to 
comply with Policy SP13 of the Local Plan Strategy.

The Council's Specialist in relation to this application has also stated:

It is unclear how the area of woodland to the East of the site is to be managed in the long term, much of 
the existing trees have been removed in recent years but regeneration is likely to occur and this area 
needs to be retained as semi natural woodland'

It is considered therefore that a condition should be imposed on any approval to manage the eastern part 
of the application site in respect of landscaping and trees.

Other issues

North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue has not objected to the application.
The Town Council have agreed that the proposal would benefit the site on the provision that measures 
are implemented to reflect the detailed reports, and providing the scheme is not detrimental to the Band 
Hall. The Town Council are supportive of the principle of residential development on this site. The 
Town Council are, however, also concerned regarding surface water flooding and they have made 
reference to the previously submitted photographs and videos of the flooding events in Manor Vale that 
occurred in the winter of 2015-2016.

One letter has been received stating no objection to the development providing the existing drainage 
problems can be addressed. There has also been 13 third party letters raising objections/concerns.  

The issues raised in the objections relate to:

 The risk of surface water flooding and increased risk to existing properties;
 The ability of the existing drainage network to accommodate the proposed additional 

discharge;
 Whether if approved, another application would be submitted for more housing on the wider 

area;
 Implications for the Band Hall facilities;
 The principle of the proposed development;
 Drainage infrastructure;
 The loss of trees on the outer sides of the quarry and possible land stability problems;
 Access and highway safety related matters;
 That vehicular charging points are not catered for;
 Noise and implications relating to the Band Hall and whether complaints about statutory 

nuisance could be made about the Band Hall by future occupiers of the proposed dwellings;
 Inaccuracies and discrepancies with the Noise Assessment;
 The previous history relating the location of the Band Hall;
 That the Band does practice with windows/doors opened and also outdoors in the summer 

months;
 The condition and appearance of the site;
 Questioning why RDC keeps accepting further planning applications on this site;
 No visitor parking spaces

Page 176



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

 No natural surveillance of the parking areas;
 The consultation period running over the festive period; and
 Whether this housing is sustainable and questions regarding the need for the development.

The condition and appearance of the site is self-evident, the site could benefit from appropriate 
development. The issue of the principle of the development, noise, surface water flooding, the impact of 
the community facilities, trees, the principle of development, and highway safety have been addressed 
earlier in this report. There is no policy requirement for new dwellings to have vehicular charging 
points. Any future applications for residential development on the wider site would be considered on its 
individual merits against the development plan at that point in time. The Local Planning Authority has a 
statutory duty to determine planning applications, and there is no reason for the LPA to refuse to 
entertain this application. The Tree and Landscape Officer has previously stated that the tree felling on 
the outer sides has not removed the root systems so the stability of the land should not be adversely 
affected. The parking areas are located in areas with passing traffic and pedestrians. The level of 
surveillance is considered to be acceptable. The consultation period did include the festive period, like 
many other planning applications. It is considered that reasonable time was allowed for third party 
comments and re-consultation has taken place subsequently.

All of the individual comments raised can be viewed online under the application reference number.

Community Infrastructure Levy

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is chargeable on this proposed development, at a rate of £85m2. 

Conclusion

At the present time, given the outstanding information, it is not possible to make a final 
recommendation. It is anticipated that an Update Report may be included on the Late List, dependent on 
the timing of outstanding consultation responses.

RECOMMENDATION: To Follow 

Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 12
Application No: 17/01494/HOUSE
Parish: Kirkbymoorside Town Council
Appn. Type: Householder Application
Applicant: Mr & Mrs J Humphreys
Proposal: Erection of a part two storey/part single storey rear extension and terracing 

of rear garden
Location: 24 Castlegate Kirkbymoorside North Yorkshire YO62 6BJ

Registration Date:  11 December 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  5 February 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  1 February 2018
Case Officer:  Joshua Murphy Ext: 329

CONSULTATIONS:

Parish Council No comments 

Neighbour responses: Ms Rachel Underwood, Mrs Elizabeth Davison, 

THE SITE:

The application site is located within the built up area of Kirkbymoorside and within the designated 
conservation area. Castlegate is a narrow street with narrow foot ways and is characterised by dwellings 
which back onto the back edge of the public footpath. The property is one of a number of linked terraced 
properties that run along the eastern side of the roadway.

Many of the terraced cottages are small in scale - originally only being a single room in width. However 
over the years many have been extended to the rear to provide additional accommodation and to the rear 
of these properties there are a number of existing two storey flat roofed extensions. None of these are 
visible from the street because they are completely screened by the continuous run of properties either 
side.

THE PROPOSAL:

This application is for a part two storey/part single storey rear extension with the creation of a lower 
terrace area immediately to the rear of the proposed extension.  At the present time most of the rear 
garden serving the property is at a higher level and some excavation is proposed to create the lower 
terrace area. The properties either side (and also the existing property) have already been extended in 
the past with two storey flat roofed additions . The addition to the rear of Number 26 currently projects 
further to the rear than the others and this application seeks to extend Number 24 as far as that at 
Number 26 at first floor with an additional lean to at ground floor which projects a further 1.3 metres. 
The excavated lower terrace is approximately 1.5 metres beyond the ground floor part of the extension.

Plans and elevations are attached which show the existing ground and first floor arrangements of the 
dwelling and also the proposed extensions. The exterior of the building is proposed to be constructed 
from stone and render to match those either side.

Page 210

Agenda Item 12



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

PLANNING POLICY:

National Policy
NPPF 
NPPG

Local Policy
Ryedale Plan Local Plan Strategy 
Policy SP12 Heritage
Policy SP16 Design
Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Policies

HISTORY:

None directly relevant.

APPRAISAL: 

The key considerations relating to this application are.

Heritage impacts
Design
Amenity considerations

Heritage 

The site is located within the designated conservation area.  The statutory duty imposed requires the 
Local Planning Authority to assess where or not the proposal enhances or preserves the character of the 
designated area.

In this case officers consider that the run of terraced properties has already been much altered to the rear 
and this,  notwithstanding the Council's normal approach to two storey flat roofed extensions, forms a 
distinctive part of the current character of the rear of the properties in Castlegate. As mentioned earlier 
in this report there are no public views of the rear areas and the distinctive traditional front elevations of 
the property area unaltered.

The character of the conservation area is considered to be preserved and any harm to the designated area 
is   considered to be negligible in the circumstance of this case. No objections are raised on heritage 
grounds and Policy SP 12 is considered to be satisfied.

Design 

The design approach to this extension is to a large extent set by the way that this property and others in 
the street have previously been extended. Photos submitted with the application demonstrate the 
appearance of these and are attached for Members' information.  

The proposal is for a modest amount of additional accommodation. On ground floor the existing kitchen 
which includes a small dining table is enlarged to provide a downstairs toilet and utility room with 
sitting dining area leading to an outside terrace. At first floor the existing rear bedroom is enlarged and 
a small ensuite provided.

The design and appearance of the extension largely mirrors those in the immediate vicinity of the site 
and in the circumstances of the case there appear to be few if any other design solutions that would be 
appropriate in this instance. Policy SP16 is therefore considered to be satisfied in this respect.

Page 211



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Amenity considerations

The existing property is modest in scale along with others on the street. Whilst the proposed additions 
are relatively modest in size they are nevertheless close to the side and rear boundaries of both adjacent 
properties and therefore have the potential to impact on adjacent amenity. This is perhaps less so to the 
occupiers of Number 26 as this property is on slightly raising ground and it already projects further to 
the rear than Number 24. It is noted that there has been no objection from the occupier of that dwelling 
house.

Number 22 however is located close to the side (southern facing) wall of the extension. The two storey 
element would project approximately 2.2 metres beyond the rear of Number 22 and the ground floor 
lean-to would be a further 1.3 metres.  The boundary is denoted by a wall and panel fence at the present 
time which already has an impact on daylight to the rear of Number 22 and its rear curtilage. The 
extension whilst located on the north side of the neighbour (and therefore not resulting in loss of 
sunlight) will be likely to have some additional impact on natural daylight.

It should be noted that the occupier of Number 22 has objected to the proposal, expressing concerns 
over its size and that it will extend further to the rear of others in close proximity to the boundary. 
Concerns are also raise about the proposed excavation to form the lower terrace and potential for 
impacts on ground stability. The full letter of objection can be viewed on the Council's website.

The matter of amenity impacts is considered in Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues. 
SP20 requires extensions to respect the character and context of the immediate vicinity and this has 
already been appraised in the report above. Consideration is also requires of the impacts of a proposal 
on the amenity of existing and future residents. The additions are considered to retain sufficient space 
on the site itself for the needs of future occupiers and the additional accommodation proposed is 
considered to make the dwelling more suitable for the needs of a small family for example.

The remaining consideration therefore relates to the assessment of the impacts on the adjacent 
occupiers. Whilst there is an impact upon the adjacent occupier to the south those additional impacts are 
considered to be limited when appraised in the context of the existing site conditions. In addition the use 
of a light reflective material on the side facing wall such as a pale coloured render would go some way 
to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the adjacent occupier. Subject to the imposition of an 
appropriate materials condition it is considered that the planning balance weighs in favour of the grant 
of planning permission.

Other Matters

Kirkbymoorside Town Council have responded and make no comment on the application.

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before .

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004

2 Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, details and samples of the materials 
to be used on the exterior of the proposed building(s) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No variation of the approved materials shall be 
undertaken without the express consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance.

Page 212



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

3 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plan(s):

 Site Location Plan
 Proposed Site Layout – Drawing no. D417021/04
 Proposed Floorplans – Drawing no. D417021/05
 Proposed Elevations – Drawing no. D417021/06

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 13
Application No: 17/01513/FUL
Parish: Norton Town Council
Appn. Type: Full Application
Applicant: Mr & Mrs S Cass
Proposal: Erection of a two bedroom bungalow together with formation of vehicular 

access for 3 The Chase.
Location: Land Off The Chase Norton Malton North Yorkshire 

Registration Date:  18 December 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  12 February 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  12 March 2018
Case Officer:  Joshua Murphy Ext: 329

CONSULTATIONS:

Yorkshire Water Land Use Planning Await response 
Parish Council Object 
Highways North Yorkshire Require further information 

Neighbour responses: None received 

SITE:

The Chase forms part of a modern residential development in Norton, which is located to the east of the 
Langton Road. 

The proposal site is currently part of the rear garden of No 3 The Chase. This is a detached two storey 
property which is situated on the northern side of the road and at right angles to the road. To the rear of 
the plot are single storey dwellings which are situated on Stirrup Close.
 
The site is located within the Development Limits of Norton.

PROPOSAL:

The proposal is to erect a small two bedroomed bungalow between No3 The Chase and an existing 
garage which serves that property and which fronts onto The Chase.  The proposed bungalow would 
also front onto The Chase and would be set back slightly from the highway with a small front garden 
area behind a low brick wall.

The proposed dwelling measures 9m in length by 7m in width, with an eaves height of 2.8m and a ridge 
height of 5m. It is proposed to be constructed in brick with concrete interlocking roof tiles and white 
upvc casement windows, to match materials used in the locality. The proposed bungalow will have a 
small amount of amenity space around its north and eastern elevations, with approximately 3.6m of 
space to the east and the new boundary to No 3 The Chase. A two metre close boarded fence is proposed 
to separate the two properties. The existing garage and vehicular access will become the garage/access 
to serve the proposed bungalow.

A new access to serve No 3 is proposed to be created from The Chase, between the existing dwelling 
and the new curtilage of the proposed bungalow.

Page 222

Agenda Item 13



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

HISTORY:

There is no relevant planning history. 

POLICY: 

Development Plan:
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP1 General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New Housing
Local Plan Strategy- Policy SP4 Type and Mix of New Housing
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP16 Design
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues

National Policy:
National Planning Practice Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework

APPRAISAL:

It is considered that the main issues in relation to the application are:

i.   Principle of development
ii.  Character and form
iii. Impact on the residential amenity 
iv. Highway Safety 
v.  Consultation Comments

i. Principle of development

The site is located within the Development Limits of Malton and Norton and in an existing residential 
area. In principle, the proposal is acceptable in terms of Policies SP1 and SP2 of the Local Plan 
Strategy. 

Single storey accommodation forms a small proportion of Ryedale's housing stock and is in much 
demand, particularly within the context of an ageing population. It is considered that the proposed 
bungalow would contribute to addressing imbalances in the existing housing stock and in this respect, 
the proposal is consistent with Policy SP4 of the Local Plan Strategy. 

ii. Character and form

The proposal is considered to be a relatively simple but typical design for a modern bungalow. The 
materials proposed and design details are not out of character with those currently used across the 
estate. The surrounding development is a mixture of single and two storey dwellings which follow a 
traditional estate layout - set back from the highway and either fronting or at right angles to the 
highway. In this respect the design and siting of the proposed dwelling would not be out of character 
with the current estate layout.

Dwellings across the estate are situated in relatively generous plots. The juxtaposition and orientation of 
dwellings of different scales and the garden space between them means that space between dwellings is 
a feature of the design of an estate of this age. Notwithstanding this, as garden landscaping has become 
established over time and as houses have been extended and outbuildings erected within residential 
curtilages, this is less prominent. Within this context, the proposed development of the garden plot 
would not compromise the character or built form of the estate. In this respect the proposal is considered 
to be in accordance with Policies SP16 (Design) and SP20 (Generic Development Management Issues) 
of the Local Plan Strategy.

Page 223



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

iii. Impact on the residential amenity

The proposed bungalow will not be overlooked by properties to the north and vice versa, as these are 
single storey in scale. 

Due to the orientation of the proposed bungalow in relation to No 3 The Chase, views into the lounge 
and kitchen of the proposed dwelling and into its amenity space would be possible from the second floor 
windows of the rear elevation of No 3. Whilst some overlooking of nei ghbouring properties is not 
uncommon across the estate, it is considered that due to the proximity of the two dwellings, a scheme 
for the boundary treatment should be conditioned in order to mitigate overlooking of the proposed 
dwelling. This could include limited tree planting in addition to the proposed 2 m close boarded fence.
One window and a patio door are proposed to the eastern elevation of the bungalow. However, as the 
proposed dwelling is single storey, the proposed 2 m close boarded fence would ensure that the 
proposed development would not result in overlooking/loss of privacy for the existing and future 
occupants of No 3. 

The proposal will result in the loss of part of the rear garden of No 3 and in this respect, the amount of 
private amenity space for that dwelling will be compromised. It is however, considered that sufficient 
usable space in the rear garden would remain. In addition, it should be noted that the property also has 
relatively generous additional outdoor amenity space to its eastern (front) elevation.

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of Policy SP 20 
(Generic Development Management Issues) of the Local Plan Strategy.

iv. Highway Safety 

Access to the proposed dwelling will provided using the existing access which serves plot No 3. A new 
access to provide off street car parking to the rear of No 3 is proposed. North Yorkshire Highways have 
been consulted and requested revised plans in order to ensure that the correct visibly splays can be 
achieved. Revised plans have been submitted and the final comments of NYCC Highways are awaited.

 v. Other Matters 

No comments have been received from the occupants of surrounding residential properties.

Norton Town Council has recommended refusal of the application due to overdevelopment of the rear 
garden of No 3. It is not clear whether this is in relation to the loss of amenity/garden space to No 3 or 
over development which is to the detriment of built form and character. However, as outlined in the 
relevant sections of the report, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an over development 
of the plot which would result in unacceptable harm to residential amenity or to the character of the 
area. 

CONCLUSION: 

The occupants of the proposed dwelling will have some reduced residential amenity by virtue of 
overlooking from the adjacent property, No 3. It is considered that this can be mitigated in part by 
boundary treatment, including landscaping. The proposed property would provide a small single storey 
dwelling which is a much needed form of accommodation in Ryedale. In this respect and on balance, 
Approval is recommended.

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before .

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

Page 224



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plan(s): 

 Site Location Plan (Received 10/1/18)
 Proposed Plans (Ref: 17-1222-1. Dated February 2018)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of the development 
permitted, details and samples of the materials to be used in the exterior of the buildings 
which are the subject of this condition, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to satisfy the requirements of 
policies SP16 and SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

4 Notwithstanding the plans submitted, the development shall not be brought into use until a 
scheme detailing the boundary treatment of the site, including landscaping,  has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be 
brought into use until the works comprising the approved scheme relating to that property 
have been completed. The scheme shall thereafter be retained and maintained for the lifetime 
of the development. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity to accord with policy SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local 
Plan Strategy.

5 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting 
or amending that Order) development of the following classes shall not be undertaken other 
than as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority following a specific 
application in that respect:

Class A: Enlargement, improvement or other alteration of a dwellinghouse
Class B: Additions etc to the roof of a dwellinghouse
Class C: Other alterations to the roof of a dwellinghouse 
Class D: Porches 
Class E: Buildings etc incidental to the enjoyment of dwellinghouse 
Class F: Hard surfaces incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse
Class G: Chimneys, flues etc on a dwellinghouse
Glass H: Microwave antenna on a dwellinghouse 

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the areas is not prejudiced by the introduction of 
unacceptable materials and/or structure(s), and to satisfy the requirements of Policy SP20 of 
the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy.

Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

Item Number: 14
Application No: 17/01531/FUL
Parish: Sand Hutton Parish Council
Appn. Type: Full Application
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Miers
Proposal: Change of use, alteration and extension of existing detached outbuilding to 

form a two bedroom residential dwelling together with alterations to the 
driveway layout.

Location: Outbuilding At Water Meadows Hall Drive Sand Hutton Malton 

Registration Date:  21 December 2017
8/13 Wk Expiry Date:  15 February 2018 
Overall Expiry Date:  5 February 2018
Case Officer:  Niamh Bonner Ext: Ext 325

CONSULTATIONS:

Parish Council No objections 
Highways North Yorkshire Recommend refusal 

Neighbour responses: Mr & Mrs Hamilton, Mr Hamilton

SITE:

Water Meadows is a detached property, located within the site of the former Sand Hutton Hall. It is 
accessed from an unadopted drive, Hall Drive, serving the application site and thirteen other properties. 
The application site is approximately 2.3 hectares of garden land and along Hall Drive. The wider area 
is characterised by detached residential development in a broadly linear layout, until the application site 
is reached. At that point it is noted that Water Meadows occupies a significant area of land, where the 
former Sand Hutton Hall was located, until its demolition in the 1960s. 

POLICIES:

Local Plan Strategy -Policy SP1 General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New Housing
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP16 Design
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP19 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP21 Occupancy Restrictions
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance
Local Plan Strategy - Policy SP17 Managing Air Quality, Land and Water Resources

PROPOSAL: 

The proposal seeks planning permission for the change of use, alteration and extension of existing 
detached outbuilding to form a two bedroom residential dwelling together with alterations to the 
driveway layout. 

PLANNING HISTORY:

No planning history is considered directly relevant to the current proposal. 

Page 230

Agenda Item 14



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

APPRAISAL:

The main considerations in the determination of this application are: 

i) Principle of development
ii) Design
iii) Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity
iv) Access and Highway Safety 
v) Other Matters, including consultation responses

i) Policy

The Ryedale Local Plan Strategy is the Development Plan and includes a settlements hierarchy, which 
directs the majority of development to the Market Towns and then to Service Villages. New dwellings 
will only be supported in villages, such as Sand Hutton, when they are needed to support a sustainable, 
vibrant and healthy rural economy and communities, as per Policy SP1 (General Location of 
Development and Settlement Hierarchy).

The principle of housing in this location is guided by SP2 (Delivery and Distribution of New Housing). 
Policy SP2 notes that the sources of new housing within the Wider Open Countryside which could be 
supported in principle will be the following: 

 New build dwellings necessary to support the land based economy where an essential need for 
residential development in that location can be justified

 Conversion of redundant or disused traditional rural buildings and where this would lead to an 
enhancement to the immediate setting for Local Needs Occupancy.

 Change of use of tourist accommodation (not including caravans, cabins or chalets) where 
appropriate and restricted to Local Needs Occupancy

 Replacement Dwellings

Therefore to ensure that development of new dwellings meet the needs of the local communities, any 
new dwellings will be subject to a Local Needs Occupancy Assessment and Condition.
It is noted that a letter of objection has been received in respect of this application from a Planning 
Agent on behalf of the occupiers of the property adjoining the site, High Field. This letter of objection 
will be fully summarised below in Section 4. However pertinent points has been raised in relation to the 
principle of this dwelling. 

This letter notes that ‘the applicant has failed to identify that the subject building is a redundant disused 
traditional rural building.’  This response continues “The building is in use as a garage and domestic 
store and therefore is not redundant or disused. ‘Traditional’ is commonly understood to be a pre-1919 
building.  Historic England in their ‘Adapting Traditional Farm Buildings: best Practice Guidelines 
for Adaptive Reuse’ (September 2017) also provide examples of what a traditional building comprises.  
In this instance the subject building, albeit in brick, is clearly not traditional or rural.  To allow the 
conversion of a domestic curtilage building to a dwelling under Policy SP2 would set a precedent 
allowing contrived situations for anyone to apply to covert a shed or garage to a dwelling and therefore 
it is clear this is an important test that must be satisfied.”

With regard to this response, it is noted that the structure is currently for garaging and for storage by the 
applicants and as such is not strictly ‘disused.’ However it is considered that the host property could 
continue to function acceptably without this outbuilding.

This existing outbuilding is functional in nature and lies within the domestic curtilage of Water 
Meadows. It is considered that the conversion of this building for further residential purposes, with a 
limited increase in footprint would not materially change the site activity, nor it would harmfully 
enhance the level of domesticity. It is noted the area that would be the curtilage of the proposed 

Page 231



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

dwelling already appears domestic in nature, with closely mown lawns and the garage serving Water 
Meadows. The application site does not fall under any special area of landscape value, conservation 
area or within the curtilage of a listed building.  It is considered that there would be no harmful loss of 
rural character. It is further noted that permitted development rights could be removed to prevent 
alterations to the submitted layout and to prevent the proliferation of domestic type development. 

In regard to whether the proposed building for conversion forms a ‘traditional or rural’ building, 
Officers within the Specialist Place team who originally drafted this policy have confirmed that they do 
not believe that to be considered ‘traditional’ a building must be constructed prior to 1919, which is too 
restrictive a criterion and a more subjective appraisal must be undertaken. This building has been 
constructed in traditional brick with timber elements, incorporating a corrugated pitched roof and 
traditional timber posts along the open southern elevation. This outbuilding, with its attached 
greenhouse and timber store is reflective of a building which has evolved over time to meet the 
functional needs of the occupants. As such, the Local Planning Authority and the Specialist Place Team 
Officers consider the outbuilding to form a traditional building, due to its appearance and significant 
brick/timber construction. Policy SP2 takes a broader view on building types to include non-rural 
outbuildings. Whilst it is noted that this site does fall within the ‘Wider Open Countryside’ and outside 
village development limits, as required by the Ryedale Plan Local Plan Strategy, it is acknowledged that 
this section of the site has a domesticated character. It was noted by the Specialist Place Officers that 
this policy was originally written to prevent the conversion of modern, poorly constructed low quality 
farm buildings for residential purposes and to ensure the retention of more traditional buildings in 
Ryedale. 

Furthermore, whilst not a material planning consideration, it is noted that Water Meadows occupies the 
site of the former Sand Hutton Hall, which from old aerial photographs and Historic OS Maps, included 
a significant proliferation of outbuildings, including stables and stores. However since the demolition of 
the Hall and these outbuildings in the 1960s, the current site has experienced limited development, aside 
from the erection of Water Meadows and the outbuilding in consideration. Since the 1960s the erection 
of a broadly linear row of residential dwellings has occurred along the lane.   

Therefore it is Officer’s view that this building as proposed maintains a traditional appearance with a 
largely brick built and timber form and can in principle (subject to wider design considerations and the 
identified local need occupancy test appropriately accord with Policies SP1, SP2 of the Ryedale Plan, 
Local Plan Strategy.) Furthermore, it is noted that with regard to the point around ‘precedence’ that this 
would not form a material planning consideration in the determination of any future proposals. The 
Local Planning Authority would determine every proposal on its own individual merit.

Further within the letter of objection, the agent notes that the Local Needs Occupancy Criteria as per 
Policy SP2 and SP20 “should only be imposed for developments where their purposes has been 
justified.” 

The letter of objection continues to note that “This evidence is clearly anecdotal and is supported by no 
definitive evidence i.e. that the applicant has lived in the locality for 40 years, that other properties have 
been considered and found to be unsuitable, that single storey development is required due to the nature 
of any health conditions, evidence of property search exercise to that that if there is a need for single 
storey accommodation that it can’t be met by the existing housing provision. To assume that approval 
and imposition of a standing including the SP21 caveats is poor Planning as ultimately it would lead to 
the unnecessary conversion of a building to a dwelling in an unsuitable location.” For this reason it is 
requested that the application be refused on the basis that the applicant has failed to address the 
requirements of Policy SP2 and SP21.   

The Design and Access Statement to which the objector refers confirms that the applicants currently 
reside in the neighbouring property, Water Meadows and have lived in Sand Hutton for 40 years. This 
D&A Statement notes they wish to move into a more accessible, single storey building and that these 
types of properties are limited in their availability in Sand Hutton. 

This information was noted and as part of the assessment undertaken by the Case Officer as to the 
justification for the requirement of a dwelling to be subject to the Local Needs Occupancy Condition. 

Page 232



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

The agent was contacted for further information in relation to the available properties within Sand 
Hutton and have noted the following: 

“In terms of the local needs occupancy criteria, I would like to clarify that the Applicants, Mr and Mrs 
Miers, have lived at Water Meadows for the last 34 years. They would like to provide a lifetime home for 
themselves to live in as they grow older. A more accessible, single storey property is therefore 
considered appropriate. 

They wish to stay in Sand Hutton village as they are part of the local community and the local church. 
Their son also lives within the village.

There is currently only 1 single storey property for sale within Sand Hutton – signifying the lack of such 
properties within the village. It seems likely therefore, that if/when the Applicants wish to sell their 
property there would be very limited, if any, choice available within Sand Hutton. Furthermore, any 
property which may be available may not necessarily suitable for any needs/requirements that they may 
have.” 

A search has also been undertaken by the Case Officer and it was noted that one bungalow was also 
found available within Sand Hutton, with more available in the adjoining areas, according with the 
Agent’s statement. It is however noted that this appears to indicate that there is a limited supply of 
bungalows within Sand Hutton so that this development would provide in the future, a property type 
which appears to be in limited supply in Sand Hutton. Furthermore it is also noted that the applicants 
would accord with the local needs occupancy criteria. It is therefore considered that this proposal 
accords with the Policies in relation to Local Needs contained within Policies SP1, SP2 and SP21 of the 
Ryedale Plan, Local Plan Strategy.  

It is noted that the letter of objection also believes the proposal would not “lead to an enhancement to 
the immediate setting” and therefore remains discordant with policy for that reason. The letter also 
makes reference to the proposed size of extensions, design and external materials, being discordant in 
this countryside location. This will be reviewed in the following design section. 

It was also noted within this letter of representation that this proposal discords with Policy SP19 – 
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development given that it fails to meet the requirements of 
Policy SP2 and would result in landscape harm. It was also noted that there were no material planning 
considerations sufficient to overcome to “fundamental breach of the Development Plan.”

As noted, it is Officer’s opinion that this accord with Policy SP1, SP2 and SP21 of the Ryedale Plan, 
Local Plan Strategy and would result in limited impacts upon the wider landscape, given the limited 
addition to an existing building. For those reasons, it is not considered that this is discordant with Policy 
SP19. 

ii) Design 

This proposal relates to an existing outbuilding and its proposed conversion to a single storey, two 
bedroom development. This would also incorporate a side extension, following the removal of the 
existing greenhouse structure, which would span c3.8m from and span 6.4m metres along the existing 
western elevation, maintaining the pitched roof design of the original outbuilding. 

A timber framed rear extension with a monopitch roof, spanning c4.6m from and c12.6m along the 
northern elevation is proposed following the demolition of the existing wooden storage area, it is noted 
that the highest part of this roof form would be set down from the ridge height of the original 
outbuilding by c0.75m given the land levels at the site. The principle southern elevation, which is 
currently open in nature would be enclosed using brick panel, with the existing timber supports 
retained. A small porch is proposed to adjoin this elevation. 

The original building and extensions would be roofed with zinc panels, as would the rear and side 
extensions and primarily glazed porch. A monopitch car port area would adjoin the property to the 
western elevation, rising from 2.8m to 3.65m. This would be constructed of zinc sheeting, with timber 

Page 233



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

supports to accord with the appearance of the dwelling. 

It is noted that during the determination of the proposal, a revised plan was sought to correct the 
appearance of the western elevation on the submitted elevation plan (Drawing no. 303) This alteration is 
minor and was not considered to require re-advertisement given the northern and southern elevations on 
the plan were correct and tallied with the submitted roof plan and sectional drawings. 

The letter of objection also notes that the proposal “involves significant extension and alterations to a 
fairly small and low key building which at present reads as an unimposing domestic outbuilding which 
is not visible in the wider landscape.  The proposed size, design and external materials of the proposed 
dwelling is overly domestic in character and of a scale that would be discordant in this countryside 
location, visibly pushing the built character out further into countryside, eroding its special quality.   
The ability to provide landscaping to ‘hide’ the development does not make an unacceptable 
development then acceptable. There is also no guarantee that any landscaping would be maintained 
and managed in perpetuity.”

It is noted that a further letter of objection was received personally from the occupier of High Field, who 
confirmed his concern with the proposal and noted that “In addition to the information contained within 
Ms Grunnill's objection letter, it is important to note that the footprint of the proposed dwelling has 
been considerably enlarged by including in the curtilage two latterly appended, temporary wooden 
structures. Namely a greenhouse, together with a large, open-fronted, "lean-to" shed. These two 
additions, significantly, and artificially, increase the size of the potential development.” 

This proposed design, summarised above would incorporate a footprint of approximately 221.5 square 
metres, an increase of approximately 35 square metres upon the original outbuilding, (calculated 
including the timber store to rear and greenhouse) which has a footprint of c195 square metres. Without 
the greenhouse and timber store the footprint would be c133 square metres. It is however noted that 
Google Earth indicates that the lean to element to rear has been present since 2002. The graphics are not 
clear enough to allow for comment on the greenhouse. 

The proposed design would retain the traditional pitched roof form in the main section of the building 
and the traditional timber posts along the southern elevation. In Officer’s opinion, the proposed 
extensions introduce an acceptable modern contrast to the outbuilding, by virtue of the proposed 
materials. 

In terms of the potential impact upon the wider landscape, it is again noted that this is an existing 
structure, which would require limited extensions to form a habitable dwelling. The extensions to this 
structure are not disproportionate to its original footprint and it remains single storey in nature. 
Therefore it is not considered that the proposed design would result in harm to the open countryside nor 
erode its special quality.  

It is however recommended that notwithstanding the submitted details a condition is attached requiring 
the submission of material samples for approval prior to the commencement of the development. The 
purpose of which is to ensure that the dwelling would not be harmful to the character and appearance of 
the outbuilding. No new landscaping is proposed and one tree would be removed to facilitate the 
proposal. This is considered acceptable due to the existing landscaping and the single storey nature of 
the proposal. There is no statutory protection afforded to the tree which will be removed. 

iii) Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity. 

It is considered that the relationship between the proposed dwelling and neighbouring properties are 
such that the proposed development would not impact on the privacy of either the future occupiers or 
neighbours, would result in loss of light or would appear overbearing. 

It is noted that the rear elevation of High Field is orientated to the north east, towards the application 
site. However it is noted that between the two properties is a large brick wall at c1.8m -2m in height and 
the proposed outbuilding for conversion offset from High Field. 

Page 234



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

The proposed dwelling, at its closest point would be c16m from the property to the west, High Field, 
which is closer than at present due to the proposed side extension, but at a significant distance that it 
would not lead to overshadowing or loss of light. The proposed car port would be situated at a distance 
of c8.15m from this property and this is a mostly open structure. The nearest window in the proposed 
converted outbuilding would be at a distance of 26.4m from High Field which is a distance that would 
prevent any overlooking being experienced. 

It is noted that there would be no increase upon the present roof height of the single storey structure and 
it would remain single storey in nature, limiting any impact. 

Some views of the proposed dwelling may be realised from the rear of High Field, however it is 
considered that these would be not be so significant in comparison to what is currently present by virtue 
of the low profile of the building together with the existing boundary treatment present between the two 
sites.  Additionally, the loss of a view cannot form a material planning consideration.  

It is not considered that the proposal would have any impact upon the existing Water Meadows 
dwelling. 

iv) Access and Highway Safety 

The proposed residential dwelling would utilise the existing access along Hall Drive and a new access 
to Water Meadows would be created, with the existing access removed and reseeded. Three parking 
spaces would be provided for the new property. 

The Highway Authority noted within their consultation response that they recommended refusal of the 
application on the basis that there is insufficient visibility along the northerly and southerly outlook 
from the bottom of Hall Drive onto the public Highway. 

However the Highways Officer has also in their response added some further detail. They have noted 
that in applications concerning additional residential development proposed to be accessed upon Hall 
Drive they have been consistent in recommendations for refusal. They refer to applications 
08/00359/FUL and 12/00042/FUL, which relate to the same site, Land at Warren Drive. 

In these decision, the Local Planning Authority recommended approval of additional residential 
development along Hall Drive. In an excerpt from the Officer’s report 08/00359/FUL the following 
rationale was highlighted. 

“The Highways Authority has objected to the proposed development in terms of the level of visibility at 
the junction of Hall Drive to the public highway in an easterly direction. There are already a number of 
properties (12) being served by the existing access from Hall Drive to the public highway. In view of 
this and the fact the proposal relates to one additional dwelling only, it is considered that the additional 
movements at this junction will not be materially different to the existing situation. In view of this it is 
not considered to be reasonable to include this as a reason for refusal in this case.”
The Design and Access Statement made reference to the Highway Authority’s likely concerns in 
relation to the proposal, however highlighted case law to support that this should not apply to cases 
where a new single dwelling is proposed to be served by an existing access. 

The letter of objection on behalf of the occupiers of High Field highlights that the North Yorkshire 
Highway Officer’s response recommends a refusal based on the access not meeting the visibility 
requirements and highlight that this forms a material planning consideration. Paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
is also quoted “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.” The letter of objection notes “Since the 
HA’s original response (2008) advising that no additional traffic should be served from Hall Drive, the 
LPA has approved one additional dwelling. It is considered that any further development would be 
cumulatively harmful to highway safety.”

Following review of the access to the site and the response from the Highways Officer, it is considered 
that one further residential dwelling along Hall Drive would not result in significantly increased 

Page 235



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

levels/cumulative impacts, in terms of the increased use of the access, beyond the current levels. Whilst 
access and highway safety is a material planning consideration, weight is given to the site specific 
situation and in this instance, it is Officer’s opinion (consistent with the previous decisions made by the 
Local Planning Authority) that this issue could not justify refusal of this scheme. 

In recognition of this, the North Yorkshire Highway Officer had attached a recommended condition, as 
they noted in their response, they were mindful of the decisions taken by the Local Planning Authority 
on the two decisions quoted above and the officer reports contained therein. 

v) Other Matters, including Consultation Responses

The Parish Council have confirmed no objection to the proposal 

The Highway Officers concerns and the Council’s previous approach upon new dwellings along this 
lane have been detailed within the previous section. 

The details contained within the letters of objection have been mostly noted highlighted and dealt with 
above. However in the interests of clarity, they will be further summarised below and are available to 
view within the annex to this report:

Letter received from the planning agent on behalf of the occupiers of High Field dated 05.02.2018

- Discords with Policy SP2 for the following reasons:
Not a redundant or disused traditional rural building 
Would not result in an enhancement to the immediate setting 
Development not justifiable for Local Needs Occupancy.

- Unacceptable in terms of Highway Safety, as per consultation response from Highways
- Discords with Policy SP19 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development for the 

following reasons:
Fails to satisfy the requirements of SP2. 
Landscape Harm 
No other materials considerations put forward to justify the proposal

Email received from the occupier of High Field dated 02.03.2018

- In additional to information within letter from planning agent referenced above, it was noted 
that the footprint of the proposed dwelling was enlarged by erection of a greenhouse and a 
large, open-fronted shed. These two additions, significantly, and artificially, increase the size of 
the potential development.

It is considered that the point raised within these representation have been addressed within the above 
report. 

A bat informative will be added to any permission granted.

Therefore having paid regard to and assessed the concerns contained within the two letters, by and on 
behalf of the occupier of High Field Officer’s are satisfied that this proposal conforms with Policies SP1 
General Location of Development and Settlement Hierarchy, SP2 Delivery and Distribution of New 
Housing, SP16 Design, SP17 Managing Air Quality, Land and Water Resources, SP19 Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development and SP20 Generic Development Management Issues of the 
Ryedale Local Plan, Local Plan Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
This application is therefore recommended for conditional approval. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

Page 236



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before .

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plan(s):

Site Location Plan (Drawing no. 300)
Existing Site Layout Plan (Drawing no. 003A)
Proposed Site Layout Plan (Drawing no. 301)
Existing Floor Plans and Sections (Drawing no. 001A)
Proposed Floor Plans (Drawing no. 302)
Proposed Elevations (Drawing no. 303A)
Proposed Sections (Drawing no. 304)
Proposed Roof Plan (Drawing no. 305)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3 No dwelling shall be occupied until the related parking facilities have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved drawing number 170 912 03. Once created these parking areas 
shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all 
times.

Reason: In accordance with policy SP20 Generic Development Management Issues and to 
provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street accommodation for vehicles in 
the interest of safety and the general amenity of the development.

4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Town & Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or 
amending that Order) development of the following classes shall not be undertaken other than 
as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority following a specific 
application in that respect:
Class A: Enlargement, improvement or alteration of a dwellinghouse
Class B: Roof alteration to enlarge a dwellinghouse
Class C: Any other alteration to the roof of a dwellinghouse
Class D: Erection or construction of a domestic external porch
Class E: Provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of any building or enclosure, 
swimming or other pool required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse 
or the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of such a building or enclosure
Class G: The erection or provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of a container for 
the storage of oil for domestic heating

Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the areas is not prejudiced by the introduction of 
unacceptable materials and/or structure(s).

5 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of the development hereby 
permitted, or such longer period as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, details and samples of the materials to be used on the exterior of the building the 
subject of this permission shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to satisfy the requirements of 
Policies SP16 and SP20 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy. 

Page 237



PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 March 2018

6 The dwelling house hereby approved shall be occupied by a person(s) together with his/ hers 
spouse and dependants, or a widow/widower of such a persons who;
Have permanently resided in the parish, or an adjoining parish (including those outside the 
District), for at least three years and are now in need of new accommodation, which cannot be 
met from the existing housing stock; or
Do not live in the parish but have a long standing connection to the local community, 
including a previous period of residence of over three years but have moved away in the past 
three years, or service men and women returning to the parish after leaving for military 
service; or
Are taking up full time permanent employment in an already established business which has 
been located within the parish, or adjoining parish, for at least the previous three years; or
Have an essential need arising from age or infirmity to move to be near relatives who have 
been permanently resident within the District for at least the previous three years
Reason: To meet local housing need in non-service villages and to satisfy the requirement of 
Policy SP2 and Policy SP21 of the Ryedale Plan - Local Plan Strategy

INFORMATIVE(S)

1 All bats and their roosts are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) and are further protected under 
section 41/42 of the Conservation  of Habitats and Species  Regulations 2010. Should any 
bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during development, work must stop immediately 
and Natural England contacted for further advice. This is a legal requirement under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as Amended) and applied to whoever carried out the 
work.
Contact details: Natural England, 4th Floor, Foss House, Kings Pool, 1 - 2 Peasholme Green, 
York, YO1 7PX  Tel: 0300 060 1911

Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



RYEDALE DISTRICT COUNCIL

APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE DEVELOPMENT CONTROL MANAGER
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE  SCHEME OF DELEGATED DECISIONS

2nd March 2018 

1.
Application No: 17/01178/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Weaverthorpe Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Britton
Location: Garages At East Bank Main Road Weaverthorpe Malton North Yorkshire 
Proposal: Demolition of existing garages and the erection of a three bedroom dwelling to be 

used as either a local needs occupancy dwelling or a holiday cottage.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

2.
Application No: 17/01252/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Thorpe Bassett Parish Meeting
Applicant: Mr Nige Tully
Location: Land Adj Holly Tree House Thorpe Bassett Lane Thorpe Bassett Malton North 

Yorkshire 
Proposal: Erection of detached building forming 2no. stables and and a feed and machinery 

store for private use
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

3.
Application No: 17/01349/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Slingsby Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Stephen Simpson
Location: 19 Cavendish Court Slingsby North Yorkshire YO62 4BN
Proposal: Removal of rear facing window,replacing with patio doors of same width. Remove 

back door and infill with matching stone.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

4.
Application No: 17/01378/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Kirkbymoorside Town Council
Applicant: CG Yorkshire
Location: 19 Howe End Kirkbymoorside YO62 6BE
Proposal: Erection of single storey rear extension and subdivision of existing 4 bedroom 

dwelling to form 2no. 2 bedroom dwellings with associated excavation of garden 
area to form additional amenity space with the installation of a retaining wall (part 
retrospective)

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

5.
Application No: 17/01384/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Huttons Ambo Parish Council
Applicant: Travis Perkins (Properties) Limited
Location: Unit 4 Plot 5A Malton Enterprise Park Cherry Farm Close Malton North Yorkshire  
Proposal: Change of use of Class B2 (General Industrial) unit to Class B8 (Storage and 

Distribution)
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

6.
Application No: 17/01412/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Ampleforth Parish Council
Applicant: Mrs Tracy Hutchinson
Location: Daisy Day Care 15 Millway Ampleforth North Yorkshire YO62 4DRPage 249

Agenda Item 16



Proposal: Erection of conservatory to the rear
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

7.
Application No: 17/01415/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Mrs Hilary Pegrum
Location: 16 The Mount Malton YO17 7ND
Proposal: Erection of detached garage following the demolition of existing outbuilding 

together with installation of new window to east elevation and installation of french 
doors to replace existing single door on south elevation

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

8.
Application No: 17/01422/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Wilton Parish Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Nesome
Location: Hayfield Village Farm Cliff Lane Wilton Pickering North Yorkshire YO18 7LB
Proposal: Erection of a single storey one bedroom self-contained residential annex with a 

glazed link to the existing farmhouse
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

9.
Application No: 17/01432/FUL Decision:  Refusal
Parish: Sinnington Parish Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Coote
Location: Land At The Poplars Main Street Sinnington Pickering North Yorkshire 
Proposal: Erection of a four bedroom dwelling with vehicular access, parking and amenity area
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

10.
Application No: 17/01433/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Foxholes Parish Council
Applicant: Mr I Scruton
Location: Land At Village Hall  Main Street Foxholes Driffield YO25 3QF
Proposal: Demolition of former village hall and erection of 1 no. three bedroom dwelling with 

formation of vehicular access
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

11.
Application No: 17/01461/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Warthill Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Antony Brittain
Location: Northgate Lodge Northgate Lane Warthill North Yorkshire YO19 5XR
Proposal: Erection of a two bedroom trainers dwelling with attached five bedroom self 

contained grooms residential annex
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

12.
Application No: 17/01440/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Barton-le-Street Parish Meeting
Applicant: Mr Tim Burgham
Location: Manor House  Main Street Barton Le Street Malton YO17 6PL
Proposal: Erection of a single storey extension to the west elevation, widening of existing 

vehicular access to public highway and demolition of outbuilding and section of 
garden wall adjacent to access and drive

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

13.
Application No: 17/01442/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Kirkbymoorside Town CouncilPage 250



Applicant: Mr R Corps
Location: Stablemans Cottage West Lund Kirkbymoorside North Yorkshire YO62 6AW
Proposal: Erection of an attached garage
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

14.
Application No: 17/01443/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Habton Parish Council
Applicant: Mr R Dixon
Location: Garforth Hall  Ryton Rigg Road Ryton Malton YO17 6RY
Proposal: Erection of a single storey extension to north elevation to form a double garage and 

utility room with storage above
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

15.
Application No: 17/01444/LBC Decision:  Approval
Parish: Habton Parish Council
Applicant: Mr R Dixon
Location: Garforth Hall  Ryton Rigg Road Ryton Malton YO17 6RY
Proposal: External and internal alterations to include erection of a single storey extension to 

north elevation to form a double garage and utilty room with storage above with 
ground floor opening into existing dwelling , alterations to existing dwelling to 
include formation of bedroom and bathroom on first floor with installation of 
additional window together with removal of remains of derelict outbuildings

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

16.
Application No: 17/01454/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Hanagan
Location: 18 The Mount Malton YO17 7ND
Proposal: To render the south elevation with a lime-based monouche finish render.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

17.
Application No: 17/01463/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Sinnington Parish Council
Applicant: Mrs Karen Buxton
Location: 2 Station Cottages Marton Road Sinnington North Yorkshire YO62 6RA
Proposal: Erection of a detached double garage to replace existing garages and shed
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

18.
Application No: 17/01465/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Harome Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Rooke
Location: Rye House Farm  Helmsley To Harome Road Helmsley YO62 5JN
Proposal: Formation of two areas of reinforced concrete hardstanding totalling approximately 

600sqm within the farmyard
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

19.
Application No: 17/01474/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Marton Parish Meeting
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Strickland
Location: Oak Lea  Marton Road Marton Kirkbymoorside YO62 6RD
Proposal: Erection of a part two storey/part single storey extension to the south and west 

elevations following demolition of existing conservatory and erection of replacement 
porch to west elevation

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Page 251



20.
Application No: 17/01480/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Scampston Parish Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs James Firby
Location: Kyleakin  Main Street West Knapton Malton YO17 8JB
Proposal: Erection of single storey rear extension, replacement of existing front conservatory 

and bay window with timber clad extensions and erection of detached outbuilding in 
rear garden

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

21.
Application No: 17/01485/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Sherburn Parish Council
Applicant: Messrs WD Stephens (Mr Paul Stephens)
Location: Fosters Wold Farm  Weaverthorpe To Fosters Wold Plantation Weaverthorpe 

Malton YO17 8EP
Proposal: Installation of array of 180 ground mounted solar panels giving 50KW peak output to 

generate electricity for on-farm use, with surplus to be exported to the National Grid
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

22.
Application No: 17/01489/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Sherburn Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Les Milburn
Location: 39 St Hildas Street Sherburn Malton North Yorkshire YO17 8PG
Proposal: Erection of two storey rear extension.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

23.
Application No: 17/01496/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Wharram Parish Council
Applicant: Mrs J Scott
Location: White Rose House Main Street Wharram Le Street Malton North Yorkshire YO17 

9TL
Proposal: Erection of open front porch to east elevation
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

24.
Application No: 17/01505/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Kirby Grindalythe Parish Council
Applicant: Mr Iain Simpson
Location: Home Farm  Salents Lane Duggleby Malton YO17 8BN
Proposal: Erection of first floor extension for domestic storage above existing single storey 

domestic outbuilding (resubmission of approval 14/01416/HOUSE dated 
19.02.2015)  

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

25.
Application No: 17/01506/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Langton Parish Meeting
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Michael Sinclair
Location: Witham Cottage  Main Street Langton Malton YO17 9QP
Proposal: Erection of a first floor extension on a column support
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

26.
Application No: 17/01514/DNO Decision:  Approval
Parish: Rillington Parish Council
Applicant: Professional Remediation Ltd (Mr Paul Cornforth)
Location: Land At Rear Of 56 Low Moorgate Rillington Malton North Yorkshire 
Proposal: Demolition of stables/outbuildings on land at rear of 56 Low MoorgatePage 252



_______________________________________________________________________________________________

27.
Application No: 17/01511/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Ampleforth Parish Council
Applicant: Ms A Hayes
Location: The Coach House  Main Street Ampleforth YO62 4DU
Proposal: Erection of first floor side extension over existing roof terrace and infill to existing 

open store below.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

28.
Application No: 17/01512/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs J Szkiler
Location: West Mede  Castle Howard Road Malton YO17 7AY
Proposal: Conversion of 3no. flats to form 1no. seven bedroom residential dwelling 

(retrospective application)
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

29.
Application No: 17/01528/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Leavening Parish Council
Applicant: Miss Sandra Hutchinson
Location: 3 Wold Terrace Leavening To Aldro Farm Leavening Malton North Yorkshire YO17 

9SE
Proposal: Erection of front entrance porch.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

30.
Application No: 17/01538/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Norton Town Council
Applicant: Redrow Homes Yorkshire (Miss N Mannion)
Location: Junction To Redrow Site Scarborough Road Norton Malton North Yorkshire  
Proposal: Formation of a vehicular and pedestrian road junction (retrospective application)
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

31.
Application No: 17/01529/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Sand Hutton Parish Council
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Matthew Prescott
Location: The Nook Upper Helmsley Road Sand Hutton North Yorkshire YO41 1JZ
Proposal: Erection of two storey side and rear extensions following demolition of exisitng 

conservatory
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

32.
Application No: 17/01530/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Norton Town Council
Applicant: Mr H Mayne
Location: 3A Commercial Street Norton Malton North Yorkshire YO17 9HX
Proposal: Sub-division of existing two bedroom flat to form 2no. one bedroom flats.
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

33.
Application No: 18/00025/ADV Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Malton Town Council (Mrs Gail Cook)
Location: Verge Off Old Malton Road Malton North Yorkshire  
Proposal: Erection of pole-mounted aluminium town welcome sign (retrospective).
_______________________________________________________________________________________________Page 253



34.
Application No: 18/00026/ADV Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Malton Town Council (Mrs Gail Cook)
Location: Verge Off Broughton Road Malton North Yorkshire  
Proposal: Erection of pole-mounted aluminium town welcome sign (retrospective).
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

35.
Application No: 18/00027/ADV Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Malton Town Council (Mrs Gail Cook)
Location: Verge Off York Road Malton North Yorkshire  
Proposal: Erection of pole-mounted aluminium town welcome sign (retrospective).
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

36.
Application No: 17/01542/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: British Telecom PLC
Location: Telephone Exchange Greengate Malton North Yorkshire YO17 7EN
Proposal: Installation of 2no. aluminium weather louvres with security bars to replace existing 

window panes on the north and east elevations at first floor level together with 
formation of an opening to north elevation to allow pipework onto the roof.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

37.
Application No: 18/00007/TPO Decision:  Approval
Parish: Pickering Town Council
Applicant: Mrs Angela Mannion-Watson
Location: 4 Bursary Court Pickering North Yorkshire YO18 8BF
Proposal: Oak T1 TPO 12/330- Crown lift to 3m, reduce branch over neighbouring garden( 

no6) by 1.5m, dead wood crown
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

38.
Application No: 18/00009/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Sherburn Parish Council
Applicant: Master Bailey Kirby
Location: 4 Church View Sherburn Malton North Yorkshire YO17 8PW
Proposal: Erection of single storey side extension
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

39.
Application No: 18/00008/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Norton Town Council
Applicant: Mrs J McKinley
Location: 52 Hambleton Road Norton Malton North Yorkshire YO17 9DH
Proposal: Erection of side and rear two storey extension
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

40.
Application No: 18/00013/LBC Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Fitzwilliam (Malton) Estate (Mr Keith Davies)
Location: 10 Market Street Malton YO17 7LY
Proposal: Removal of a section of internal partition wall
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

41. Page 254



Application No: 18/00014/HOUSE Decision:  Approval
Parish: Gilling East Parish Council
Applicant: Sarah Dahlgren
Location: Station House Station Road Gilling East Helmsley North Yorkshire YO62 4JN
Proposal: Erection of verandah to front of attached outbuilding
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

42.
Application No: 18/00045/FUL Decision:  Approval
Parish: Malton Town Council
Applicant: Fitzwilliam (Malton) Estate (Mr Keith Davies)
Location: 10 Market Street Malton North Yorkshire YO17 7LY
Proposal: Change of use of shop to cafe (Use Class A3).
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Page 255



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 29 January 2018 

by S Jones  MA DipLP 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 26th February 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/Y2736/D/17/3189398 

5 Middlecave Drive, Malton YO17 7BB 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Armitage against the decision of Ryedale District 

Council. 

 The application Ref 17/00892/HOUSE, dated 27 July 2017, was refused by notice dated 

3 October 2017. 

 The development proposed is Erection of a two storey side extension and with a single 

storey carport attached. Also a single storey rear extension.  
 

 
Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for erection of a two 
storey side extension and with a single storey carport attached and a single 
storey rear extension at 5 Middlecave Drive, Malton YO17 7BB in accordance 

with the terms of the application, Ref 17/00892/HOUSE, dated 27 July 2017, 
and the plans submitted with it, subject to the following conditions:  

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: Site Location Plan, Drawing No 17-
1176-1 Existing Dwelling, Drawing No 17- 1176-2A Proposed Extensions. 

3) No development shall commence until details / samples of the materials 
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details / samples. 

Main Issue 

2. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and 
appearance of the appeal site and the surrounding area. 

Reasons 

3. The appeal site is a semi-detached house in a development of other 

contemporaneous dwellings. The semi-detached dwellings are set in generous 
plots to the side and rear. At the end of the road are larger detached properties 
and a school.  

Page 256

Agenda Item 17

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Y2736/D/17/3189398 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

4. The appeal site already has a single storey extension to the side leading to the 

single garage, inset from the front building line. As shown on Drawing No 18-
1176-2A, extensions are proposed to the existing dwelling to add a two storey 

side extension across the full depth of the property drawing level with the front 
building line. This would lead into a carport that would be set back by a short 
distance. As shown on the Proposed South Elevation front and rear projections 

would be added to create the front porch, and single storey rear kitchen 
extension with a mono pitched roof and rooflights across the width of the 

existing kitchen.  This would not run the full rear width of the dwelling. There 
would be no window or opening behind the boundary fence facing towards the 
adjoining semi-detached,. The rear kitchen extension would not be visible in 

the streetscene because it would be hidden behind the dwellings. 

5. As illustrated on the plans, the resulting development would increase the 

footprint of the appeal site. With regard to the side extension, at ground floor 
level there are already buildings in place that cover a similar area albeit 
stopping short of the frontage. However, the extension would be two storey 

and would have a pitched roof that would tie in to the existing dwelling slightly 
below and inset from the existing ridgeline. There would be a small inset at 

first floor level away from the front elevation. Nevertheless, although the insets 
from the ridgeline and the front elevation would be relatively small, I am 
satisfied that the design of the extension overall would appear clearly 

differentiated as an addition to the appeal site.  

6. There is a large variety of previous extensions including substantial alterations 

to the frontages of other semi-detached dwellings in the road, more closely 
resembling the detached dwellings nearby in terms of size. This pair of semi-
detached dwellings is similar at present in terms of subsequent extensions. The 

proposal would increase the bulk of No 5 and the larger size would distinguish 
it from the adjoining semi-detached. However, notwithstanding that, the 

development would not be unacceptable in my view because given that many 
of the surrounding semi-detached dwellings have completed large side 
extensions, the proposal would be compatible with the immediate locality and 

the surrounding area. Therefore this development would not be out of keeping 
or discordant given its surroundings and would reflect the character of the 

streetscene.  

7. Consequently I conclude that it would not conflict with Policies SP16 and SP20 
of the Ryedale District Council Ryedale Plan-Local Plan Strategy 2013, since 

these aim to secure development that reflects its location. 

Conclusion 

8. I have imposed conditions in the interests of certainty and to ensure a 
satisfactory final appearance. I consider that a condition restricting permitted 

development rights would not be necessary because the circumstances in this 
case are not exceptional enough to justify its imposition in accordance with the 
Guidance. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be 

allowed. 

S Jones   

INSPECTOR 

Page 257

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 January 2018 

by David Cross  BA (Hons), PGDip, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 19 February 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/Y2736/W/17/3187521 

Former Agricultural Compound, Land North of Lakeside Way, Norton. 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Thomas Crown Associates Ltd against the decision of Ryedale 

District Council. 

 The application Ref 17/00118/OUT, dated 30 January 2017, was refused by notice dated 

21 April 2017. 

 The development proposed is residential development. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The description and location of development in the heading above have been 

taken from the planning application form.  In relation to the description of 
development, in Part E of the appeal form it is stated that the description of 
development has not changed but, nevertheless, a different wording has been 

entered.  Neither of the main parties has provided written confirmation that a 
revised description and location of development have been agreed.  

Accordingly, I have used the details given on the original application. 

3. The application has been submitted in outline with approval sought in relation 
to access and layout, with all other matters reserved for future consideration.  I 

have dealt with the appeal on that basis. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues in this appeal are: 

 Whether the proposal represents an acceptable form of development 
having regard to flood risk; and 

 The effect of the development on the living conditions of residents of 
nearby properties with regards to outlook and light. 

Reasons 

Flood Risk – Sequential Test 

5. The appeal site is located in Flood Zones 2 and 3a, within which the Planning 

Practice Guidance indicates that a Sequential Test followed by an Exception 

Page 258

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Y2736/W/17/3187521 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Test need to be applied in order to justify ‘more vulnerable development’, such 

as residential development.  The National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework) indicates that the aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new 

development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Development 
should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for 
the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of flooding.  Whilst 

a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was submitted with the planning application, 
this did not include information to enable a Sequential or Exception Test to be 

undertaken. 

6. However, a Sequential Test Report (STR) and Exception Test Report have 
subsequently been submitted with the appeal.  The Council has requested that 

I do not assess these documents as part of the appeal as it considers that they 
have not been subject to public consultation.  However, the documents were 

submitted as part of the appeal statement and I understand that the Council 
have notified interested parties of the appeal.  I therefore consider that 
appropriate consultation has taken place and I have proceeded to consider the 

appeal on that basis. 

7. A definition of whether a site is ‘reasonably available’ under the terms of the 

Sequential Test is not provided, but the Planning Practice Guidance advises 
that a pragmatic approach on the availability of alternatives should be taken.  
The screening criteria adopted by the STR include that to be regarded as a 

‘reasonable alternative’ a site must be within 15% of the gross site area of the 
appeal site, which, based on a gross site area of 0.54 ha, equates to a 

screening range of between 0.46 ha and 0.62 ha. In my judgement, that 
criterion is unduly restrictive.  Firstly, the illustrative application plan indicates 
that the ‘developable area’ that would be needed to accommodate the 

dwellings would only be around 0.23 ha, much smaller than the lower 
screening limit.  Furthermore, to my mind, it would not be unreasonable to 

expect consideration to be given to sites larger than 0.62 ha, parts of which 
might be made available for development of the scale proposed. 

8. Given the above, in my judgement, the STR has not demonstrated that there 

are no reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in 
areas with a lower probability of flooding.  The proposal therefore fails the 

Sequential Test and would therefore not be an acceptable form of development 
with regards to flood risk.  The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy 
SP17 of the Ryedale Plan – Local Plan Strategy 2013 (RPLPS) in respect of 

managing flood risk as well as paragraphs 100 and 101 of the Framework. 

Flood Risk - Other 

9. The Council’s second and fourth reasons for refusal relate to specific concerns 
on matters of remodelling ground levels and surface water run-off. 

10. In relation to remodelling, the appellants contend that Appendix G of the FRA 
shows the flow routes through the site.  However, the methodology behind this 
plan is unclear, particularly in relation to whether the re-profiling of the site has 

been fully considered.  The flood flow routes between the rear gardens of the 
proposed dwellings and those of Springfield Garth would also appear not to 

have been specifically addressed.  On that basis, I concur with the Council’s 
concerns that inadequate evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the 
regrading of the site would not divert water into neighbouring properties. 

Page 259

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Y2736/W/17/3187521 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. In relation to surface water run-off, the appellants have submitted 

correspondence between their representatives and the Environment Agency 
(EA) which I note includes a statement from the EA that “reducing the run-off 

rate to the watercourse by 64% is acceptable”1.  However, I also note that this 
was correspondence directly between the appellants’ representatives and the 
EA, and that the Council are concerned that they have not been provided with 

evidence to fully substantiate the statement from the EA.  Moreover, I note 
that the EA’s objections to the planning application have not been formally 

withdrawn, even though the e-mail correspondence post-dates the objections. 

12. However, it is not necessary for me to comment further on these matters 
because, even if I were to accept the appellants’ position, this would not 

overcome the issues identified above in relation to the Sequential Test. 

13. I note that the appellants contend that the proposal would meet the Exception 

Test.  However, I am not convinced by the appellant’s assertion that the 
Exception Test could be met, not least because the Council has confirmed that 
it is able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing sites without the appeal 

scheme.  Furthermore, the appellants have not demonstrated an overriding 
requirement for residential development of the nature of the proposal in this 

location.  In any event, the Framework indicates that the Sequential Test must 
be passed before the Exception Test can be applied.  I consider that the failure 
of the Sequential Test is a compelling reason why the development should not 

proceed. 

Living Conditions 

14. The proposed dwellings on Plots 1 and 7 would be located in close proximity to 
the rear boundaries of dwellings on Springfield Garth.  Due to this location to 
the south of the existing properties, the proposed dwellings would result in a 

significant degree of overshadowing to the rear gardens of the existing 
properties to the north.  Furthermore, due to the close proximity to the 

boundary, the proposed dwellings would have an overbearing relationship to 
the rear gardens of the neighbouring properties.  These harmful effects would 
be exacerbated by the proposed increase in floor levels of the proposed 

dwellings in response to flood risk, which would increase the bulk and massing 
of the proposed buildings. 

15. The appellants state that the proposal would comply with typical spacing 
standards in new development.  However, I note that Council policy does not 
refer to standard separation distances and instead requires an assessment of 

the amenity of neighbouring occupants on matters including loss of daylight 
and an overbearing presence.  Whilst the separation distances between 

buildings may be acceptable in relation to Plot 1, the dwelling on Plot 7 would 
be located in close proximity to the rear elevation of the dwellings to the north 

and would have an overbearing relationship in relation to the existing 
dwellings.  In any event, the separation distances between buildings would not 
address the harm arising from the close proximity to the rear gardens of 

existing properties and the harm identified above. 

16. I acknowledge that the application has been submitted in outline and that the 

scale and appearance of the proposal are reserved for future consideration.  I 
am also mindful that the appellants state that they would be willing to accept a 

                                       
1 e-mail from Rachel Clarke-Wood of the EA dated 17 July 2017 

Page 260

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Y2736/W/17/3187521 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

condition which limits the height of the dwellings on both plots 7 and 8 to no 

more than two storeys.  However, due to the layout of the proposal and the 
close-knit relationship with properties on Springfield Garth, I do not consider 

that matters of outlook and light could be satisfactorily addressed through the 
design of the dwellings. 

17. I therefore conclude that the proposal would be harmful to the living conditions 

of residents of neighbouring properties due to loss of light and an overbearing 
appearance. The proposal would therefore conflict with Policy SP20 of the 

RPLPS which states that new development should not have a material adverse 
impact on the amenity of occupants of neighbouring land or buildings. 

Conclusion 

18. For the reasons given above, and taking account of all material planning 
considerations, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

David Cross 

INSPECTOR 

Page 261

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Schedule of items to be determined by the Committee
	6 17/01536/MFUL - Land South of Firthland Road Pickering
	2 - Site Location Plan

	7 17/01458/MFUL - Leat House 71 Welham Road Norton
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Site Layout Plan
	4 - Existing Floor Plans
	5 - Proposed Floor Plans
	6 - Existing Elevation
	7 - Proposed Elevation
	8 - Design And Access Statement
	9 - Parish

	8 17/01500/MOUT - Land off Ruffa Lane Pickering
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Site Layout Plan 1
	4 - Site Layout Plan 2
	5 - Landscaping 1
	6 - Landscaping 2
	7 - Design And Access Statement
	8 - Parish

	9 17/01509/MREM - Land at Rainbow Lane Malton
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Revised Site Layout Plan
	4 - Block Plans
	5 - Plans 1
	6 - Plans 2
	7 - Revised Plans 1
	8 - Revised Plans 2
	9 - Additional Plans 1
	10 - Landscaping 1
	11 - Landscaping 2
	12 - Streetscape
	13 - Supporting Statement
	14 - Landscaping document
	15 - Parish

	10 17/01327/FUL - Bay Horse Inn Main Street Terrington
	2 - Revised Plan
	3 - Plans 1
	4 - Plans 2
	5 - Existing Elevation
	6 - Proposed Elevation
	7 - Existing Plans 1
	8 - Existing Plans 2
	9 - Proposed Plans 1
	10 - Proposed Plans 2
	11 - Proposed Plans 3
	12 - Design And Access Statement
	13 - Justification Statement
	14 - Parish

	11 17/01450/FUL - North Yorkshire Highways Depot Manor Vale Lane Kirkbymoorside
	2 - Revised Site Location Plan 1
	3 - Revised Site Location Plan 2
	4 - Block Plans 1
	5 - Block Plans 2
	6 - Revised Block Plan
	7 - Proposed Plans
	8 - Plans 1
	9 - Plans 2
	10 - Revised Plan 1
	11 - Revised Plan 2
	12 - Elevations
	13 - Landscaping
	14 - Design And Access Statement
	15 - Site Layout from 08-00019-MOUT
	16 - Appeal Decision from 08-00019-MOUT
	17 - Parish 1
	18 - Parish 2

	12 17/01494/HOUSE - 24 Castlegate Kirkbymoorside
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Site Layout Plan
	4 - Existing Floor Plans
	5 - Proposed Floor Plans
	6 - Existing Elevation
	7 - Proposed Elevation
	8 - Parish

	13 17/01513/FUL - Land off The Chase Norton
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Plans
	4 - Revised Plan
	5 - Parish

	14 17/01531/FUL - Outbuilding at Water Meadows Hall Drive Sand Hutton
	2 - Site Location Plan
	3 - Site Layout Plan
	4 - Existing Plans
	5 - Proposed Floor Plans
	6 - Existing Elevation
	7 - Proposed Elevations
	8 - Parish

	16 List of applications determined under delegated powers
	17 Appeals
	Agricultural Contractors


